
9.22.2021 Board of Finance Regular Meeting Minutes   Page 1 of 5 

 BOLTON BOARD OF FINANCE 
 REGULAR MEETING 

  WEDNESDAY,  SEPTEMBER 22, 2021– 7:15 pm 
  VIRTUAL MEETING VIA ZOOM WEBSITE PLATFORM 

  Minutes 

Board of Finance Members Present:  Chairman Emily Bradley, Vice-Chair Robert Munroe, Ross Lally, 
Kristen Gourley, Robert DePietro, Richard Tuthill and Charles Danna Jr. (joined meeting at 7:39 p.m.) 
Board of Selectmen Members Present:  First Selectman Sandra Pierog, Selectman Robert DePietro  
Board of Education Members Present:  Superintendent of Schools Kristin Heckt 
Staff Present:  Interim Town Administrator Jim Rupert and Board Clerk Linda McDonald 
Others Present:  Fire Chief Bruce Dixon  

1. Call to Order:  E. Bradley called the meeting to order at 7:18 p.m.

2. Public Participation:  No public participation.

3. Approval of Minutes:

3.a Approval of June 15, 2021 Regular Meeting Minutes 
3.b Approval of June 17, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 
3.c Approval of June 29, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 
3.d Approval of July 13, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 
3.e Approval of July 27, 2021 Special Meeting Minutes 

Chairman Bradley asked unanimous consent of the June 15, 2021 regular meeting minutes, June 
17, 2021 special meeting minutes, June 29, 2021 special meeting minutes, July 13, 2021 special 
meeting minutes, and  July 27, 2021 special meeting minutes as presented.  Hearing no 
objections, the Chair said the minutes are approved. 

4. Elected Official and Town Staff Reports:

4.a Tax Collection Summary:  E. Bradley reported this is the unaudited report and, as of
August 30, 2021, the current tax levy collected was at 90.94%. The current motor vehicle levy
collected was at 71.05% with the percentage of interest and fees collected at 8.31%. The
members also reviewed the tax collection summaries for June and July 2021. Tax bills mailed in
July 2021 were based on the temporary mill rate set by the BOF. The supplemental tax bills will
be mailed to residents in January 2022.  S. Pierog said the supplemental bills are on the town
website and can be paid now.

4.b Town Update: E. Bradley reported the town’s unaudited revenue statement as of June
30, 2021 is 100.33% expended.  She said the August 2021 statement will be available for the
next regular meeting.   On the expenditure side, as of August 31, 2021 (FY 2022), there were no
concerns.  S. Pierog said there may be additional expenses in the Highways and Street line item
due to flooding damage from recent storms.  The members reviewed the budget transfers,
mostly from FY 2021.

1



9.22.2021 Board of Finance Regular Meeting Minutes                                                                  Page 2 of 5 

 

S. Pierog reported the Town received approximately $700,000 of the $1.4 million of American 
Rescue Funds but the funds have not yet been expended as the BOS has no clarity yet from the 
Federal government as to what the funds can be spent on.  The remainder of the funds will be 
allocated to the Town in July 2022.    
 
4.c Board of Education Update: Superintendent Heckt reported, as of August 31, 2021, the 
BOE budget is 5% expended for FY 2022. She said the BOE is returning $492,965 from FY 2021.  
She said the schools are experiencing staffing shortages and some transportation issues.   
 

5. New Business: 
 5.a Consideration and Action on Approval of Fire Truck Resolution to Referendum and 

Approve the Resolution for Borrowing: 
 
 E. Bradley said $180,000 has been put away over the past several years in the capital 

improvement budget for the purchase of a replacement new engine tanker fire truck.  
 
 Fire Chief Dixon reported the department applied for a grant to replace radio systems in the 

trucks and has been awarded a $120,000 FEMA grant to replace 1953 forestry truck with a 5% 
grant matching from the Town.     

 
 R. DePietro MOVED to approve sending the following resolution to town meeting with the 

intent of going to referendum: 
 
      Town of Bolton  

Board of Selectmen Resolution  
 
RESOLUTION APPROPRIATING $810,000 FOR THE ACQUISITION OF AN ENGINE TANKER FIRE 
TRUCK FOR THE BOLTON VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT; AND AUTHORIZING THE ISSUE OF 
$630,000 BONDS AND NOTES TO FINANCE, IN PART, THE APPROPRIATION 
 
RESOLVED,  
 
(a)  That the Town of Bolton appropriate EIGHT HUNDRED TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($810,000) for the acquisition of an engine tanker fire truck and related equipment for use by 
the Bolton Volunteer Fire Department, including $180,00 previously appropriated for such 
purpose. The appropriation may be spent for acquisition, equipment, consulting and testing 
fees, costs related to any application for and acceptance of available grants, legal fees, net 
interest on borrowings and other financing costs and other expenses related to the project and 
its financing. The Board of Selectmen shall determine the scope and particulars of the project 
and may reduce or modify the project scope; and the entire appropriation may be expended on 
the project as so reduced or modified. 
 
(b)  That the Town issue its bonds or notes in an amount not to exceed SIX HUNDRED 
THIRTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($630,000) to finance, in part, the appropriation for the project. 
The bonds or notes shall be issued pursuant to Section 7-369 of the General Statutes of 
Connecticut, Revision of 1958, as amended, and any other enabling acts. The amount of bonds 
or notes authorized to be issued shall be reduced by the amount of grants received by the Town 
for the project and not separately appropriated to pay additional project costs. The bonds or 

2



9.22.2021 Board of Finance Regular Meeting Minutes                                                                  Page 3 of 5 

 

notes shall be general obligations of the Town secured by the irrevocable pledge of the full faith 
and credit of the Town. 
 
( c)  That the Town issue and renew its temporary notes from time to time in anticipation of 
the receipt of the proceeds from the sale of the bonds or notes for the project. The amount of 
the notes outstanding at any time shall not exceed SIX HUNDRED THIRTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($630,000). The notes shall be issued pursuant to Section 7-378 of the General Statutes of 
Connecticut, Revision of 1958, as amended. The notes shall be general obligations of the Town 
secured by the irrevocable pledge of the full faith and credit of the Town. The Town shall comply 
with the provisions of Section 7-378a of the General Statutes if the notes do not mature within 
the time permitted by said Section 7-378. 
 
(d)  The First Selectman and the Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer of the Town shall sign the 
bonds or notes by their manual or facsimile signatures. The law firm of Pullman & Comley, LLC is 
designated as bond counsel to approve the legality of the bonds or notes. The First Selectman 
and the Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer are authorized to determine the amount, dates, interest 
rates, maturities, redemption provisions, form and other details of the bonds or notes; to 
designate one or more bank or trust companies to be certifying bank, registrar, transfer agent 
and paying agent for the bonds or notes; to provide for the keeping of a record of the bonds or 
notes; to designate a municipal advisor to the Town in connection with the sale of the bonds or 
notes; to sell the bonds or notes at public or private sale; to deliver the bonds or notes; and to 
perform all other acts which are necessary or appropriate to issue the bonds or notes. 
 
(e)  That the Town hereby declares its official intent under Federal Income Tax Regulation 
Section 1.150-2 that project costs may be paid from temporary advances of available funds and 
that the Town reasonably expects to reimburse any such advances from the proceeds of 
borrowings in an aggregate principal amount not in excess of the amount of borrowing 
authorized above for the project. The First Selectman and the Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer are 
authorized to amend such declaration of official intent as they deem necessary or advisable and 
to bind the Town pursuant to such representations and covenants as they deem necessary or 
advisable in order to maintain the continued exemption from federal income taxation of interest 
on the bonds or notes authorized by this resolution if issued on a tax-exempt basis, including 
covenants to pay rebates of investment earnings to the United States in future years. 
 
(f)  That the First Selectman and the Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer are authorized to make 
representations and enter into written agreements for the benefit of holders of the bonds or 
notes to provide secondary market disclosure information, which agreements may include such 
terms as they deem advisable or appropriate in order to comply with applicable laws or rules 
pertaining to the sale or purchase of such bonds or notes. 
(g)  That the First Selectman, the Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer, the Board of Selectmen, 
the building committee or committees as established from time-to-time by the Board of 
Selectmen for the project, and other proper officers of the Town are authorized to take all other 
action which is necessary or desirable to complete the project, to apply for and accept grants for 
the project, and to issue bonds or notes to finance the aforesaid appropriation. 
 
(h)  That, subject to the approval of the appropriation by the Board of Finance, following a 
Special Town Meeting, the resolution be submitted to the Town electors for approval or 
disapproval at a referendum on November 2, 2021 between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 8:00 

3



9.22.2021 Board of Finance Regular Meeting Minutes                                                                  Page 4 of 5 

 

p.m., and that the warning of said referendum shall state the question to be voted upon as 
follows: 
 

"Shall Town of Bolton appropriate $810,000 for the acquisition of an engine tanker fire 
truck for the Bolton Volunteer Fire Department and authorize the issue of $630,000 
bonds and notes to finance, in part, the appropriation?" 
 
Voters approving said resolution will vote "Yes" and voters opposing said resolution will 

vote "No". Absentee ballots will be available from the Town Clerk's office. 
 

The warning shall also state that the full text of the resolution is on file, open to public 
inspection, in the office of the Town Clerk, that the vote on the resolution is taken under the 
authority of Sections 8.6 (D) 1 and 8.8 (B) 3 of the Charter of the Town of Bolton, and that 
absentee ballots will be available in the office of the Town Clerk. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that, in their discretion, the Town Clerk is authorized to prepare a concise 
explanatory text regarding said resolution and the Board of Selectmen is authorized to prepare 
additional explanatory materials regarding said resolution, such texts and explanatory material 
to be subject to the approval of the Town Attorney and to be prepared and distributed in 
accordance with Section 9-369b of the Connecticut General Statutes. 

 
 K. Gourley SECONDED. 
 

Discussion followed.  R. Munroe expressed concern with future associated storage costs of 
adding this apparatus to the fire department fleet.  Fire Chief Dixon provided background on the 
increase in the number and types of response calls the department responds to and the 
apparatus used.  He said the ET334 tanker truck would remain in service at least until the new 
engine tanker, if approved, was delivered to the town in about a year.   
 
R. DePietro MOVED to call the question and close discussion.  MOTION CARRIED 7:0:0. 
 
By roll call  vote, the MOTION to approve sending the resolution to town meeting with the 
intent of going to referendum CARRIED 7:0:0.  

 
 5.b Lists of BOE and Town Reductions:  
 
 Superintendent Heckt was experiencing issues with logging into the virtual meeting.  She said 

the BOE returned $376,364 from employee benefits (health insurance savings) and $39,595 
from salaries and wages for FY 2021.     

 
 S. Pierog reviewed the $237,000 in reductions from the Town for FY 2021.   
 
 Discussion on this agenda item will be taken up at the next meeting. 
 
 6. Adjournment: 
 

 S. Pierog said, per executive order, municipalities can continue to hold virtual meetings until 
April 30, 2022.   

4



9.22.2021 Board of Finance Regular Meeting Minutes                                                                  Page 5 of 5 

 

 R. Lally said he will provide a report of what he heard from constituents at the at the budget 
referendum polls for the next meeting. 

 
 E. Bradley recommended the board get ahead of next year’s budget process and hold 

discussions with BOE and BOS.  She asked the members to think of ideas of how to bring more 
information to the public on the budget process to the next meeting, possibly using social media 
and TV.  S. Pierog said there will be a mandatory tri-board meeting in October with BOE, BOS 
and BOF. 

 
 S. Pierog said there are 10 ballot questions for the vote in November on the Town Charter 

revisions.    
 
  R. DePietro MOVED to adjourn the regular meeting at 9:30 p.m.  C. Danna SECONDED.  MOTION 

CARRIED 7:0:0. 
 
Next Meetings: 
October 27, 2021 Regular Meeting – 7:15 p.m. 
November 17, 2021 Special Meeting – 7:15 p.m. 
December 22, 2021 Regular Meeting -  7:15 p.m. 

Respectfully submitted by  Linda H. McDonald, Board Clerk 

Linda H. McDonald, 

PLEASE SEE THE MINUTES OF SUBSEQUENT MEETINGS FOR THE APPROVAL OF THESE MINUTES AND 
ANY CORRECTIONS HERETO.  

5



Report Commentary 
FY2021 

 
 
As of September 30, 2020, we expended 15% of the budget or $2,217,463 and in 2019, we 
expended 16%.  We are currently projecting the budget to be fully expended at $14,813,305. 
 
Transfers: 
The BOE approved all transfers presented at their October 8, 2020 meeting. 
 
Transfers over $10,000:   
None 
 
Attachments:   

 
 Budget status FY2021 
 September BOE Transfers Listing 

 
 
 
Factors That May Impact the Budget 
 
1. Future possible/probable increased expenditures in special education such as 
educational programming changes required by students’ Individual Educational Plans (IEP) 
including the possibility of future outplacements. 
 
2. The Excess Cost Reimbursement threshold won’t be known until sometime in 
November. The preliminary percentage to be reimbursed by the state is not released 
until late February and may still be revised in late May. These percentages are based 
on the special education excess cost report by all districts to the state in December 
and March of every year. 
 
3. Significant increase/decrease in the cost and usage of energy, tuition and 
transportation rates, and other professional services. 
 
4. Contractual payouts for benefits on retirements or resignation of unused earned time. 
 
5. Long term substitute coverage for maternities and sickness. 

6



BOARD OF EDUCATION BUDGET STATUS: September
MONTHLY BUDGET STATUS AND PROFORMA YEAR END EXPENDITURES

Unaudited Approved Budget Revised YTD Projected Projected^ Incr(decr)
Function Expenditures Budget Adjust./ Budget Expended YTD % Expenditures Budget from prior  September 
/Program 2019-2020 2020-2021 Transfers 2020-2021 9/30/2020 Exp. 2020-2021 Balance  +/- month proj.   Changes/Transfers 

REGULAR INSTRUCTION
Instructional Technology (new)* 1000 / 100 0 52,200 0 52,200 0 0% 52,200 0 0 See September Transfer Listing.
Art 1000 / 105 8,076 9,898 0 9,898 2,312 23% 9,898 0 0
English Language Arts 1000 / 110 13,093 18,083 623 18,706 8,952 48% 18,706 0 0
World Language 1000 / 120 16,811 1,642 7,910 9,552 2,712 28% 9,552 0 4,747 See September Transfer Listing.
Computer Instruction 1000 / 140 11,006 13,767 0 13,767 3,262 24% 13,767 0 0
Mathematics 1000 / 160 13,458 17,009 570 17,579 9,226 52% 17,579 0 0
Science 1000 / 170 8,975 11,363 0 11,363 2,195 19% 11,363 0 0
Health & Physical Education 1000 / 180 3,208 4,005 2,788 6,793 725 11% 6,793 0 0
Social Studies 1000 / 190 3,452 4,616 0 4,616 3,138 68% 4,616 0 0
Vocational Education 1000 / 300 0 0 0 0 0 0% 0 0 0
Business Education 1000 / 310 173 111 0 111 0 0% 111 0 0
Family & Consumer Science 1000 / 320 7,142 9,050 800 9,850 827 8% 9,850 0 0
Music 1000 / 350 12,589 15,777 1,877 17,654 6,737 38% 17,654 0 0
Technology Education 1000 / 360 4,562 11,290 0 11,290 2,376 21% 11,290 0 0
Continuing Education 1000 / 600 14,250 16,602 0 16,602 15,773 95% 16,602 0 0
Library Media Center 2220 / 440 24,516 28,461 0 28,461 7,022 25% 28,461 0 0
Athletics 3200 / 910 52,807 60,140 0 60,140 1,728 3% 60,140 0 0
Subtotal 194,118 274,014 14,568 288,582 66,985 23% 288,582 0 4,747

STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES
Special Education 1000 / 200 295,240 286,103 0 286,103 21,300 7% 286,103 0 0 See September Transfer Listing.
ESY Special Education 1000 / 210 15,325 24,912 0 24,912 10,900 44% 24,912 0 0
Tutorial & Homebound Instruction 1000 / Var 200 3,800 0 3,800 0 0% 3,800 0 0
Social Work 2110 / 000 0 453 0 453 0 0% 453 0 0
Guidance 2120 / 430 4,437 5,090 0 5,090 4,502 88% 5,090 0 0
Nursing & Medical 2130 / 000 5,678 6,869 0 6,869 575 8% 6,869 0 0
Psychological Services 2140 / 200 2,909 2,736 0 2,736 266 10% 2,736 0 0
Speech, Hearing & Language 2150 / 200 265 622 0 622 0 0% 622 0 0 See September Transfer Listing.
Transportation - SY SPED 2700 / 200 77,297 82,282 0 82,282 70 0% 82,282 0 0
Transportation - ESY SPED 2700 / 210 5,350 18,473 0 18,473 960 5% 18,473 0 0
Subtotal 406,701 431,340 0 431,340 38,573 9% 431,340 0 0
Excess Costs Grant (24,432) (35,100) 0 (35,100) 0 0% (35,100) 0 0
Subtotal - Net of Excess Costs Grant 382,269 396,240 0 396,240 38,573 10% 396,240 0 0

BY PROGRAM    1/2  10/6/2020
7



BOARD OF EDUCATION BUDGET STATUS: September
MONTHLY BUDGET STATUS AND PROFORMA YEAR END EXPENDITURES

Unaudited Approved Budget Revised YTD Projected Projected^ Incr(decr)
Function Expenditures Budget Adjust./ Budget Expended YTD % Expenditures Budget from prior  September 
/Program 2019-2020 2020-2021 Transfers 2020-2021 9/30/2020 Exp. 2020-2021 Balance  +/- month proj.   Changes/Transfers 

ADMINISTRATION, SUPPORT, & CENTRAL SERVICES
Program Impr. & Evaluation 2210 / 100 32,956 42,885 0 42,885 4,482 10% 42,885 0 0
Central Administration 2320 / 000 93,619 108,889 0 108,889 27,885 26% 108,889 0 0
School Insurance 2330 / Var 137,305 141,676 0 141,676 65,375 46% 141,676 0 0
Building Administration 2410 / Var 69,800 76,334 (3,030) 73,304 17,284 24% 73,304 0 0
Fiscal Services 2510 / 000 60,462 98,501 0 98,501 3,303 3% 98,501 0 0
Systems Management* 2580 / Var 334,539 166,440 (381) 166,059 12,237 7% 166,059 0 0
Subtotal 728,681 634,725 (3,411) 631,314 130,566 21% 631,314 0 0

OPERATIONS & TRANSPORTATION
Operations & Maintenance 2600 / 000 474,536 476,318 0 476,318 156,002 33% 476,318 0 0
Transportation 2700 / Var 458,095 556,550 0 556,550 46,579 8% 556,550 0 0
Subtotal 932,631 1,032,868 0 1,032,868 202,581 20% 1,032,868 0 0

SALARIES/WAGES & EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Salaries & Wages Var / Var 9,379,348 9,678,939 0 9,678,939 1,339,083 14% 9,678,939 0 0
Personnel Benefits 2570 / Var 2,339,140 2,796,519 (11,157) 2,785,362 439,675 16% 2,785,362 0 (4,747) See September Transfer Listing.
Subtotal 11,718,488 12,475,458 (11,157) 12,464,301 1,778,758 14% 12,464,301 0 (4,747)

SUMMARY OF ALL PROGRAMS
REGULAR INSTRUCTION 194,118 274,014 14,568 288,582 66,985 23% 288,582 0 4,747

STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 382,269 396,240 0 396,240 38,573 10% 396,240 0 0

ADMIN/SUPPORT/CENTRAL  SERVICES 728,681 634,725 (3,411) 631,314 130,566 21% 631,314 0 0

OPERATIONS/TRANSPORTATION 932,631 1,032,868 0 1,032,868 202,581 20% 1,032,868 0 0

SALARIES/EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 11,718,488 12,475,458 (11,157) 12,464,301 1,778,758 14% 12,464,301 0 (4,747)

TOTAL EDUCATION BUDGET 13,956,187 14,813,305 0 14,813,305 2,217,463 15% 14,813,305 0 0

TICKMARK NOTES: FY2020 Comparative Expenditure %=> 16%
Var=There are various/multiple programs associated with the function.

^Projected budget balance:  Positive amounts will reflect a budget under expenditures and (negative) amounts reflects a budget over expenditures.

APPROVAL REQUIRED (Budget Transfers over $10,000): None

*Program 100 Instructional Technology is a new program presentation for FY20-21.  In FY19-20 these technology equipment costs were listed in various departments including 120 World 
Language, 170 Science, and 2580 Systems Management.

BY PROGRAM    2/2  10/6/2020
8



FUNCTION / PROGRAM FROM TO ACCOUNT AMOUNT

COVID: Spanish Text online remote access.

1000 / 100 BCS Benefits ‐($199.56)

1000 / 120 BHS Textbooks $199.56

COVID: Spanish Text online remote access.

1000 / 100 BCS Benefits ‐($347.55)

1000 / 120 BHS Textbooks $347.55

COVID: For provision of Online French Instruction Grade 8.

1000 / 100 BCS Benefits ‐($4,200.00)

1000 / 120 BCS Instructional Supplies $4,200.00

Reclass from instructional supplies to fund testing materials.

2150 / 200 BCS Instructional Supplies ‐($160.00)

2150 / 200 BCS Tests $160.00

Reclass from BHS to BCS instructional supply lline.

1000 / 200 BHS Instructional Supplies ‐($3,000.00)

1000 / 200 BCS Instructional Supplies $3,000.00

Reclass from equipment to supplies to replace chromebook cords. 

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Related Hardware ‐Instr. ‐($500.00)

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Supplies $500.00

COVID: Additional wireless mics for teachers to use when wearing masks so remote learners can hear.

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Related Hardware ‐Instr. ‐($200.00)

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Supplies $200.00

COVID: Additional funds to cover cost of high power portable wireless speakers for PE.

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Related Hardware ‐Instr. ‐($400.00)

1000 / 100 BCS Technology Supplies $400.00

BOE TRANSFER LISTING ‐ SEPTEMBER

9



Report Commentary 
FY2022 

 
 
As of September 30, 2021, we have expended 13% of the appropriated budget or $1,874,818 and in 
2020, we expended 15%.  We are currently projecting the budget to be fully expended at $14,868,914. 
 
 
Transfers:   
The BOE approved all transfers presented at their October 14, 2021 meeting. 
 
Transfers over $10,000:   
None 
 
Attachments:   

 Budget status - FY2022 
 BOE Transfers Listing – September 
 Memo to BOF - None 

 
 

Factors That May Impact the Budget 
1. Future possible/probable increased expenditures in special education such as educational 
programming changes required by students’ Individual Educational Plans (IEP) including the 
possibility of future outplacements. 
 
2. The Excess Cost Reimbursement threshold won’t be known until sometime in November. The 
preliminary percentage to be reimbursed by the state is not released until late February and may still be 
revised in late May. These percentages are based on the special education excess cost report by all 
districts to the state in December and March of every year. 
 
3. Significant increase/decrease in the cost and usage of energy, tuition and transportation rates, and 
other professional services. 
 
4. Contractual payouts for benefits on retirements or resignation of unused earned time. 
 
5. Long term substitute coverage for maternities and sickness. 
 
 

10



BOARD OF EDUCATION BUDGET STATUS: September
MONTHLY BUDGET STATUS AND PROFORMA YEAR END EXPENDITURES

Unaudited Approved Budget Revised YTD YTD  Projected Projected^ Incr(decr)

Function Expenditures Budget Adjust./ Budget Expended % Expenditures Budget from prior  September 

/Program 2020-2021 2021-2022 Transfers 2021-2022 9/30/2021 Expended 2021-2022 Balance  +/- month proj.   Changes/Transfers 

REGULAR INSTRUCTION
Instructional Technology 1000 / 100 112,625 54,146 0 54,146 1,855 3% 54,146 0 0
Art 1000 / 105 10,270 10,571 0 10,571 3,021 29% 10,571 0 0
English Language Arts 1000 / 110 19,695 19,924 0 19,924 11,129 56% 19,924 0 0
World Language 1000 / 120 14,111 5,734 0 5,734 270 5% 5,734 0 0
Computer Instruction 1000 / 140 13,536 14,143 0 14,143 3,652 26% 14,143 0 0
Mathematics 1000 / 160 24,541 16,703 0 16,703 4,840 29% 16,703 0 0
Science 1000 / 170 7,668 17,239 0 17,239 8,260 48% 17,239 0 0
Health & Physical Education 1000 / 180 7,984 3,509 0 3,509 0 0% 3,509 0 0
Social Studies 1000 / 190 4,271 9,830 0 9,830 1,979 20% 9,830 0 0
Vocational Education 1000 / 300 0 0 0 0 0 0% 0 0 0
Business Education 1000 / 310 149 1,853 0 1,853 0 0% 1,853 0 0
Family & Consumer Science 1000 / 320 9,680 9,050 0 9,050 198 2% 9,050 0 0
Music 1000 / 350 16,800 16,678 0 16,678 5,375 32% 16,678 0 0
Technology Education 1000 / 360 4,614 12,106 0 12,106 1,520 13% 12,106 0 0
Continuing Education 1000 / 600 15,773 15,343 0 15,343 15,343 100% 15,343 0 0
Library Media Center 2220 / 440 27,027 34,542 0 34,542 13,399 39% 34,542 0 0
Athletics 3200 / 910 52,592 60,500 0 60,500 18,050 30% 60,500 0 0
Subtotal 341,335 301,871 0 301,871 88,891 29% 301,871 0 0

STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES
Special Education 1000 / 200 326,269 288,841 0 288,841 11,609 4% 288,841 0 0
ESY Special Education 1000 / 210 21,055 22,788 0 22,788 8,561 38% 22,788 0 0
Tutorial & Homebound Instruction 1000 / Var 398 3,800 0 3,800 0 0% 3,800 0 0
Social Work 2110 / 000 0 445 0 445 0 0% 445 0 0
Guidance 2120 / 430 4,727 5,392 0 5,392 4,700 87% 5,392 0 0
Nursing & Medical 2130 / 000 2,297 5,920 0 5,920 1,525 26% 5,920 0 0
Psychological Services 2140 / 200 1,456 2,554 0 2,554 0 0% 2,554 0 0
Speech, Hearing & Language 2150 / 200 0 314 0 314 0 0% 314 0 0
Transportation - SY SPED 2700 / 200 30,010 105,876 0 105,876 72 0% 105,876 0 0
Transportation - ESY SPED 2700 / 210 1,920 20,782 0 20,782 8,543 41% 20,782 0 0
Subtotal 388,133 456,712 0 456,712 35,011 8% 456,712 0 0

 10/12/2021
11



BOARD OF EDUCATION BUDGET STATUS: September
MONTHLY BUDGET STATUS AND PROFORMA YEAR END EXPENDITURES

Unaudited Approved Budget Revised YTD YTD  Projected Projected^ Incr(decr)

Function Expenditures Budget Adjust./ Budget Expended % Expenditures Budget from prior  September 

/Program 2020-2021 2021-2022 Transfers 2021-2022 9/30/2021 Expended 2021-2022 Balance  +/- month proj.   Changes/Transfers 
Excess Costs Grant (22,565) (51,890) 0 (51,890) 0 0% (51,890) 0 0
Subtotal - Net of Excess Costs Grant 365,568 404,822 0 404,822 35,011 9% 404,822 0 0

ADMINISTRATION, SUPPORT, & CENTRAL SERVICES
Program Impr. & Evaluation 2210 / 100 25,988 21,563 0 21,563 4,060 19% 21,563 0 0 See September Transfer Listing.

Central Administration 2320 / 000 97,554 110,596 0 110,596 23,643 21% 110,596 0 0
School Insurance 2330 / Var 133,532 148,672 0 148,672 72,391 49% 148,672 0 0
Building Administration 2410 / Var 61,209 76,511 0 76,511 15,287 20% 76,511 0 0
Fiscal Services 2510 / 000 49,325 86,059 0 86,059 6,072 7% 86,059 0 0
Systems Management 2580 / Var 155,448 240,989 0 240,989 33,089 14% 240,989 0 0
Subtotal 523,057 684,390 0 684,390 154,543 23% 684,390 0 0

OPERATIONS & TRANSPORTATION
Operations & Maintenance 2600 / 000 461,147 503,861 0 503,861 82,844 16% 503,861 0 0 See September Transfer Listing.

Transportation 2700 / Var 522,854 576,795 0 576,795 48,061 8% 576,795 0 0
Subtotal 984,001 1,080,656 0 1,080,656 130,904 12% 1,080,656 0 0

SALARIES/WAGES & EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Salaries & Wages Var / Var 9,136,215 9,752,021 0 9,752,021 1,127,057 12% 9,752,021 0 0
Personnel Benefits 2570 / Var 2,495,165 2,645,154 0 2,645,154 338,413 13% 2,645,154 0 0
Subtotal 11,631,380 12,397,175 0 12,397,175 1,465,469 12% 12,397,175 0

SUMMARY OF ALL PROGRAMS
REGULAR INSTRUCTION 341,335 301,871 0 301,871 88,891 29% 301,871 0 0
STUDENT SUPPORT SERVICES 365,568 404,822 0 404,822 35,011 9% 404,822 0 0
ADMIN/SUPPORT/CENTRAL  SERVICES 523,057 684,390 0 684,390 154,543 23% 684,390 0 0
OPERATIONS/TRANSPORTATION 984,001 1,080,656 0 1,080,656 130,904 12% 1,080,656 0 0
SALARIES/EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 11,631,380 12,397,175 0 12,397,175 1,465,469 12% 12,397,175 0 0
TOTAL EDUCATION BUDGET 13,845,341 14,868,914 0 14,868,914 1,874,818 13% 14,868,914 0 0

TICKMARK NOTES: FY2021 Comparative Expenditure %=> 15%
Var=There are various/multiple programs associated with the function.
^Projected budget balance:  Positive amounts will reflect a budget under expenditures and (negative) amounts reflects a budget over expenditures.

 10/12/2021
12



FUNCTION / PROGRAM FROM TO ACCOUNT AMOUNT

2210 / 100 BPS Other Supplies ‐($170.00)

2210 / 100 BPS Technology Supplies $170.00

2600 / 0 BCS Non‐Tech Rep. and Maint. ‐($4,700.00)

2600 / 0 BHS Non‐Tech Rep. and Maint. $1,200.00

2600 / 0 BCS Operation and Maint. Supplies $1,200.00

2600 / 0 BHS Operation and Maint. Supplies $2,300.00

2600 / 0 BCS Non‐Tech Rep. and Maint. ‐($3,071.32)

2600 / 0 BHS Purchased Property Services $3,071.32

Reclass:  To cover higher cost on Trane control services and new generator inspection and maintanace.

BOE TRANSFER LISTING ‐ SEPTEMBER

Reclass:  To transfer money for the purchase of webcams for the district.

Reclass:  Reallocated BCS repairs and maintenance contracted services to fund:  1)cost related to install 

of new BHS network video server, 2)BCS replacement vacuum and floor machine, and 3)BHS part 

supplies for in house repairs. 

13



Town of Bolton - FY2022 Revenue Statement - July 31, 2021 ' 

Balance Due To Balance Due To % COLLECTION 
Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date Adopted Budget Revised Forecast TO REVISED 

I FORECAST 

General Fund Revenue 
Property Taxes 
Current Property Tax $15,678,283.00 $15,678,283.00 $2,989,213.52 ($12,689,069.48) ($12,689,069.48) 19.07% 
Motor Vehicle Tax $1,694,841.00 $1,694,841.00 $399,500.44 ($1,295,340.56) ($1,295,340.56) 23.57% 
Supplemental MV Levv $175,000.00 $175,000.00 $0.00 ($175,000.00) ($175,000.00) 0.00% 
Prior Year's Taxes $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $8,088.55 ($66,91 1.45) ($66,911.45) 10.78% 
Interest & Fees i5o,ooo.oo i5o,ooo.oo $3,463.16 ($46,536.84) (i46,536.84) 6.93% 
Total Taxes $17,673,124.00 $17,673,124.00 $3,400,265.67 ($14,272,858.33] ($14,272,858.33] 19.24% 

State of Connecticut 
Education Grants 

ECS $2,683,216.00 $2,683,216.00 $0.00 ($2,683,216.00) ($2,683,216.00) 0.00% 
Adult Education $5,540.00 $5,540.00 $0.00 ($5,540.00) ($5,540.00) 0.00% 
Total State of CT Ed i21688.756.00 $21688.756.00 $0.00 ($216881756.00) ($21688.756.00) 0.00% 

Other Grants 
Pilot: New Tiered Reimb. $31,081 .00 $31,081.00 $0.00 ($31,081.00) ($31,081 .00) 0.00% 
Disabled $706.00 $706.00 $0.00 ($706.00) ($706.00) 0.00% 
Veterans Grant $3,276.00 $3,276.00 $0.00 ($3,276.00) ($3,276.00) 0.00% 
Pequot $3,031.00 $3,031 .00 $0.00 ($3,031 .00) ($3,031.00) 0.00% 
Misc. State Grants $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $0.00 ($5,000.00) ($5,000.00) 0.00% 
DOT Transportation Grant $11,494.00 $11,494.00 $0.00 ($11 ,494.00) ($11,494.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Projects $24,859.00 $24,859.00 $0.00 ($24,859.00) ($24,859.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Stabilization $11,053.00 $11,053.00 $0.00 ($11,053.00) ($11,053.00) 0.00% 
Law Enforcement $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Grants $921500.00 $921500.00 $0.00 ($92,500.00) ($921500.00) 0.00% 
Other Town Revenue 
Tuition $153,719.00 $153,719.00 $700.00 ($153,019.00) ($153,019.00) 0.46% 
Town Clerk $85,000.00 $85,000.00 $10,595.94 ($74,404.06) ($74,404.06) 12.47% 
Selectmen Fees $12,745.00 $12,745.00 $360.00 ($12,385.00) ($12,385.00) 2.82% 
Building Official Fees $70,000.00 $70,000.00 $11,350.68 ($58,649.32) ($58,649.32) 16.22% 
Library $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 
Building Official Service $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 ($75,000.00) ($75,000.00) 0.00% 
Misc. Revenue $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.02 ($1,999.98) ($1,999.98) 0.00% 
Telephone $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 ($6,000.00) ($6,000.00) 0.00% 
Interest $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $242.46 ($29,757.54) ($29,757.54) 0.81% 
Rental $25,758.00 $25,758.00 $1,224.00 ($24,534.00) ($24,534.00) 4.75% 
Senior Donations $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Town i464.222.00 i464.222.00 i241473.10 (i43917 48.90) (i439.748.90) 5.27% 
TOT GENEML HUND :&20. 918&02.00 120.918.602.00 sa.424.738.77 CS.17.4931863:.231 Ift.? t493186a.23l 16.37%1 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 
GRANTS 

Excess Cost Grant $51,890.00 $51,890.00 $0.00 ($51,890.00) ($51,890.00) 0.00% 

Federal Grants $206,485.00 $206,485.00 $0.00 ($206,485.00) ($206,485.00) 0.00% 

UNAUDITED 1 
14



Balance Due To Balance Due To 
% COLLECTION 

Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date Adopted Budget Revised Forecast TO REVISED 
FORECAST 

SHEFF $58,400.00 $58,400.00 $0.00 ($58,400.00) ($58,400.00) 0.00% 
Medicaid $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
CHOICE Grant $376,000.00 $376,000.00 $0.00 ($376,000.00) ($376,000.00) 0.00% 
ERASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
TEAM $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 ($1,000.00) ($1 ,000.00) 0.00% 
ESSER II $0.00 $0.00 $34,000.00 $34,000.00 $34,000.00 NIA 
ARP ESSER Grant $169,510.00 $169,510.00 $0.00 ($169,510.00) ($1 69,510.00) 0.00% 
Perkins $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
Donations $0.00 $0.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 NIA 

Total Board of 
$863,285.00 $863,285.00 $37,425.00 ($825,860.00) ($825,860.00) 4.34% 

Eduction Grants 

ADDITIONAL TOWN GRANTS 

Town Aid Roads $ 199,975.00 $ 199,975.00 $0.00 ($199,975.00} {$199,975.00} 0.00% 
Total Additional $199 975.00 $199 975.00 $0.00 ($199,975.001 ($199 I 9 7 5.00) 0.00% 

TOTAL BOARD OF 
EDUCATION AND 

$1,063,260.00 $1,063,260.00 $37,425.00 ($1,025,835.00) ($1,025,835.00) 3.52% 
OTHER TOWN 
GRANTS 

UNAUDITED 2 
15



Town of Bolton - FY2022 Revenue Statement -August 31, 2021 

Balance Due To Balance Due To % COLLECTION 
Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date 

Adopted Budget Revised Forecast 
TO REVISED 
FORECAST 

General Fund Revenue 
Property Taxes 
Current Property Tax $15,678,283.00 $15,678,283.00 $14,257,253.57 ($1,421 ,029.43) ($1,421 ,029.43) 90.94% 
Motor Vehicle Tax $1,694,841 .00 $1,694,841.00 $1 ,204,236.24 ($490,604.76) ($490,604.76) 71.05% 
Supplemental MV Levv $175,000.00 $175,000.00 $0.00 ($175,000.00) ($175,000.00) 0.00% 
Prior Year's Taxes $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $15,041 .39 ($59,958.61) ($59,958.61) 20.06% 
Interest & Fees §50,000.00 §50,000.00 $4,155.1 3 ($45,844.87) (§45,844.87} 8.31% 
Total Taxes $17,673,124.00 $17,673,124.00 $15,480,686.33 ($2,192,437.67) ($2,192,437.67) 87.59% 

State of Connecticut 
Education Grants 

ECS $2,683,216.00 $2,683,216.00 $0.00 ($2,683,216.00) ($2,683,216.00) 0.00% 
Adult Education $5,540.00 $5,540.00 $3,536.00 ($2,004.00) ($2,004.00) 63.83% 
Total State of CT Ed 121688?56.00 $21688?56.00 i31536.00 ($216851220.00) ($216851220.00) 0.13% 

Other Grants 
Pilot: New Tiered Reimb. $31 ,081.00 $31,081.00 $0.00 ($31 ,081 .00) ($31,081 .00) 0.00% 
Disabled $706.00 $706.00 $0.00 ($706.00) ($706.00) 0.00% 
Veterans Grant $3,276.00 $3,276.00 $0.00 ($3,276.00) ($3,276.00) 0.00% 
Pequot $3,031.00 $3,031.00 $0.00 ($3,031 .00) ($3,031 .00) 0.00% 
Misc. State Grants $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $0.00 ($5,000.00) ($5,000.00) 0.00% 
DOT Transportation Grant $11,494.00 $11,494.00 $0.00 ($11,494.00) ($11,494.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Projects $24,859.00 $24,859.00 $0.00 ($24,859.00) ($24,859.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Stabilization $11,053.00 $11,053.00 $0.00 ($11 ,053.00) ($11,053.00) 0.00% 
Law Enforcement $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Grants $921500.00 $921500.00 $0.00 ($92,500.00) ($92,500.00) 0.00% 
Other Town Revenue 
Tuition $153,719.00 $153,719.00 $700.00 ($1 53,019. 00) ($153,019.00) 0.46% 
Town Clerk $85,000.00 $85,000.00 $23,066.94 ($61 ,933.06) ($61 ,933.06) 27.1 4% 
Selectmen Fees $12,745.00 $12,745.00 $2,656.00 ($10,089.00) ($10,089.00) 20.84% 
Building Official Fees $70,000.00 $70,000.00 $22,654.26 ($47,345.74) ($47,345.74) 32.36% 
Library $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $48.1 0 ($1 ,951 .90) ($1 ,951 .90) 2.41% 
Building Official Service $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 ($75,000.00) ($75,000.00) 0.00% 
Misc. Revenue $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $24,679.93 $22,679.93 $22,679.93 1234.00% 
Telephone $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 ($6,000.00) ($6,000.00) 0.00% 
Interest $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $503.95 ($29,496.05) ($29,496.05) 1.68% 
Rental $25,758.00 $25,758.00 $4,293.00 ($21,465.00) ($21,465.00) 16.67% 
Senior Donations $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Town i4641222.00 i4641222.00 i781602.18 (i3851619.82) rn38sl619.82J 16.93% 
TOTAL GENERAL FUND s20. 918.602.00 szo.918.602.00 :&15.562.824.51 (I S.3S5.777.49) (SS.3551777.49} 741.40° j 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 
GRA,NTS 
Excess Cost Grant $51,890.00 $51,890.00 $0.00 ($51 ,890.00) ($51,890.00) 0.00% 
Federal Grants $206,485.00 $206,485.00 $0.00 ($206,485.00) ($206,485.00) 0.00% 

UNAUDITED 1 
16



Balance Due To Balance Due To % COLLECTION 
Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date 

Adopted Budget Revised Forecast TO REVISED 
FORECAST 

SHEFF $58,400.00 $58,400.00 $0.00 ($58,400.00) ($58,400.00) 0.00% 
Medicaid $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
CHOICE Grant $376,000.00 $376,000.00 $0.00 ($376,000.00) ($376,000.00) 0.00% 
ERASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
TEAM $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 ($1 ,000.00) ($1,000.00) 0.00% 
ESSER II $0.00 $0.00 $39,000.00 $39,000.00 $39,000.00 N/A 
ARP ESSER Grant $169,510.00 $169,510.00 $17,290.00 ($152,220.00) ($152,220.00) 10.20% 
Perkins $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
Donations $0.00 $0.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 N/A 

Total Board of 
$863,285.00 $863,285.00 $59,715.00 ($803,570.00) ($803,570.00) 6.92% 

Eduction Grants 

ADDITIONAL TOWN GRANTS 

Town Aid Roads $ 199,975.00 $ 199,975.00 $100,009.75 {$99,965.25} {$99,965.25} 50.01% 
Total Additional $1991975.00 $1991975.00 $1001009.75 ($99,965.25) ($99,965.25) 50.01% 

TOTAL BOARD OF 
EDUCATION AND $1,063,260.00 $1,063,260.00 $159,724.75 ($903,535.25) ($903,535.25) 15.02% 
OTHER TOWN 
GRANTS 

UNAUDITED 2 
17



Town of Bolton - FY2022 Revenue Statement - September 30, 2021 

Balance Due To Balance Due To % COLLECTION 
Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date 

Adopted Budget Revised Forecast TO REVISED 
FORECAST 

General Fund Revenue 
Property Taxes 
Current Property Tax $15,678,283.00 $15,678,283.00 $15,470,254.79 ($208,028.21) ($208,028.21) 98.67% 
Motor Vehicle Tax $1,694,841.00 $1,694,841.00 $1,485,194.63 ($209,646.37) ($209,646.37) 87.63% 
Supplemental MV Levv $175,000.00 $175,000.00 $0.00 ($175,000.00) ($175,000.00) 0.00% 
Prior Year's Taxes $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $23,999.88 ($51,000.12) ($51 ,000.12) 32.00% 
Interest & Fees §50,000.00 §50,000.00 $16,891 .61 ($33,108.39) (§33, 108.39) 33.78% 
Total Taxes $17,673,124.00 $17,673,124.00 $16,996,340.91 ($6 7 6, 783,09) ($676,783.09] 96.17% 

State of Connecticut 
Education Grants 

ECS $2,683,216.00 $2,683,216.00 $0.00 ($2,683,216.00) ($2,683,216.00) 0.00% 
Adult Education $5,540.00 $5,540.00 $3,536.00 ($2,004.00) ($2,004.00) 63.83% 
Total State of CT Ed ~21688.756.00 $21688.756.00 $31536.00 ($216851220.00) ($216851220.00) 0.13% 

Other Grants 
Pilot: New Tiered Reimb. $31,081.00 $31,081.00 $31,080.80 ($0.20) ($0.20) 100.00% 
Disabled $706.00 $706.00 $0.00 ($706.00) ($706.00) 0.00% 
Veterans Grant $3,276.00 $3,276.00 $0.00 ($3,276.00) ($3,276.00) 0.00% 
Pequot $3,031.00 $3,031.00 $0.00 ($3,031.00) ($3,031 .00) 0.00% 
Misc. State Grants $5,000.00 $5,000.00 $0.00 ($5,000.00) ($5,000.00) 0.00% 
DOT Transportation Grant $11,494.00 $11,494.00 $0.00 ($11 ,494.00) ($11,494.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Projects $24,859.00 $24,859.00 $0.00 ($24,859.00) ($24,859.00) 0.00% 
Municipal Stabilization $11,053.00 $11,053.00 $0.00 ($11,053.00) ($11 ,053.00) 0.00% 
Law Enforcement $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Grants $921500.00 $921500.00 $311080.80 ($611419.20] ($611419.20] 33.60% 
Other Town Revenue 
Tuition $153,719.00 $153,719.00 $1,309.14 ($152,409.86) ($1 52,409.86) 0.85% 
Town Clerk $85,000.00 $85,000.00 $38,461 .22 ($46,538.78) ($46,538.78) 45.25% 
Selectmen Fees $12,745.00 $12,745.00 $5,064.00 ($7,681 .00) ($7,681 .00) 39.73% 
Building Official Fees $70,000.00 $70,000.00 $36,717.68 ($33,282.32) ($33,282.32) 52.45% 
Library $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $81.60 ($1 ,91 8.40) ($1 ,918.40) 4.08% 
Building Official Service $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $0.00 ($75,000.00) ($75,000.00) 0.00% 
Misc. Revenue $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $24,683.93 $22,683.93 $22,683.93 1234.20% 
Telephone $6,000.00 $6,000.00 $0.00 ($6,000.00) ($6,000.00) 0.00% 
Interest $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $1,098.54 ($28,901.46) ($28,901.46) 3.66% 
Rental $25,758.00 $25,758.00 $5,215.50 ($20,542.50) ($20,542.50) 20.25% 
Senior Donations $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $0.00 ($2,000.00) ($2,000.00) 0.00% 

Total Other Town i4641222.00 i4641222.00 ~112.631.61 (~3511590.39) (~351.590.39) 24.26% 
TOTAL GENERAL FUND :i20.918.602.00 :i2019181602.00 :i1711431S89.32 CS3. 11s.012.68l (13. 775;.012.68} 81.9S0fql 
BOARD OF EDUCATION 
GRANTS 

Excess Cost Grant $51,890.00 $51,890.00 $0.00 ($51,890.00) ($51 ,890.00) 0.00% 

Federal Grants $206,485.00 $206,485.00 $20,632.00 ($185,853.00) ($185,853.00) 9.99% 

UNAUDITED 1 
18



Balance Due To Balance Due To 
% COLLECTION 

Adopted Budget Revised Forecast Actual to Date 
Adopted Budget Revised Forecast TO REVISED 

FORECAST 

SHEFF $58,400.00 $58,400.00 $7,700.00 ($50,700.00) ($50,700.00) 13.18% 
Medicaid $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
CHOICE Grant $376,000.00 $376,000.00 $0.00 ($376,000.00) ($376,000.00) 0.00% 
ERASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
TEAM $1,000.00 $1,000.00 $0.00 ($1 ,000.00) ($1 ,000.00) 0.00% 
ESSER II $0.00 $0.00 $41,000.00 $41,000.00 $41,000.00 N/A 
ARP ESSER Grant $169,510.00 $169,510.00 $24,125.00 ($145,385.00) ($145,385.00) 14.23% 
Perkins $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 N/A 
Donations $0.00 $0.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 $3,425.00 N/A 

Total Board of 
$863,285.00 $863,285.00 $96,882.00 ($766,403.00) ($766,403.00) 11.22% 

Eduction Grants 

ADDITIONAL TOWN GRANTS 

Town Aid Roads $ 199,975.00 $ 199,975.00 $100,009.75 {$99,965.25} {$99,965.25} 50.01% 
Total Additional $199!975.00 $1991975.00 $100,009.75 ($99,965.25) ($99,965.25) 50.01% 

TOTAL BOARD OF 
EDUCATION AND 

$1,063,260.00 $1,063,260.00 $196,891.75 ($866,368.25) ($866i368.25) 18.52% 
OTHER TOWN 
GRANTS 

UNAUDITED 2 
19



TAX COLLECTOR 
9.30.21 

PERCENTAGE 

ADOPTED COLLECTIONS RETURNED NET COLLECTION COLLECTED 
YTD REFUNDS ITEMS Transfers 9.30.21 FY22 BUDGET 

CURRENT YR.LEVY $ 15,678,283.00 $ 15,517,823.72 $ (32,874.96) $ (17,033.17) $ 2,339.20 $ 15,470,254.79 98.67% 

MOTOR VEHICLE $ 1,694,841.00 $ 1,491,143.77 $ (1,086.92) $ (5,366.36) $ 504.14 $ 1,485,194.63 87.63% 

SUPP.MV LEVY $ 175,000.00 $ $ $ $ 0.00% 

SUBTOTAL $ 17,548,124.00 $ 17,008,967.49 $ (33,961.88) $ (22,399.53) $ 2,843.34 $ 16,955,449.42 96.62% 

PRIOR YEARS $ 75,000.00 $ 26,868.96 $ (25.74) $ (2,843.34) $ 23,999.88 32.00% 

INTEREST & FEES $ 50,000.00 $ 16,968.50 $ $ (76.89) $ 16,891.61 33.78% 
s 

TOTAL $ 17,673,124.00 $ 17,052,804.95 $ (33,987.62) $ (22,476.42) $ $ 16,996,340.91 96.17% 

PREVIOUS YEAR CURRENT YR LEVY COLLECTED 

7.31.2021 8.31.2021 9.30.2021 10.31.2021 11.30.2021 12.31.2021 
19.07% 90.94% 98.67% 

1.31.2022 2.28.2022 3.31.2022 4.30.2022 5.31.2022 6.30.2022 

7.31.2020 8.31.2020 9.30.2020 10.31.2020 11.30.2020 12.31.2020 

74.79% 82.27% 97.69% 100.02% 100.17% 100.32% 

1.31.2021 2.28.2021 3.31.21 4.30.2021 5.31.2021 6.30.2021 
100.37% 100.43% 100.49% 100.67% 100.03% 100.33% 

20



FINAL FV2021 UNAUDITED Revised % 
Adopted Budget Budget Expense YTD Balance Encumbrance Unexpended Expensed 

Administration $ 729,120.00 $ 669,066.75 $ 580,277.23 $ 88,789.52 $ - $ 88,789.52 86.73% 
Board of Finance $ 2,200.00 $ 2,200.00 $ 2,064.59 $ 135.41 $ - $ 135.41 93.85% 
Financial Administration $ 231,238.00 $ 231,238.00 $ 223,219.50 $ 8,018.50 $ - $ 8,018.50 96.53% 
Auditing $ 26,500.00 $ 26,500.00 $ 26,000.00 $ 500.00 $ - $ 500.00 98.11% 
Assessor $ 81,034.00 $ 81,034.00 $ 78,490.58 $ 2,543.42 $ - $ 2,543.42 96.86% 
Tax Collector $ 84,394.00 $ 84,394.00 $ 80,941.75 $ 3,452.25 $ - $ 3,452.25 95.91% 
Fringe Benefits $ 974,958.00 $ 974,958.00 $ 824,239.86 $ 150,718.14 $ - $ 150,718.14 84.54% 
Town Clerk $ 137,079.00 $ 137,079.00 $ 133,692.73 $ 3,386.27 $ - $ 3,386.27 97.53% 
Land Use $ 303,709.00 $ 303,709.00 $ 287,199.43 $ 16,509.57 $ - $ 16,509.57 94.56% 
Planning & Zoning $ 7,120.00 $ 7,120.00 $ 2,154.40 $ 4,965.60 $ - $ 4,965.60 30.26% 
Zoning Board of Appeals $ 1,640.00 $ 1,640.00 $ 257.00 $ 1,383.00 $ - $ 1,383.00 15.67% 
Property Insurance $ 140,000.00 $ 140,000.00 $ 109,818.26 $ 30,181.74 $ - $ 30,181.74 78.44% 
Probate $ 5,786.00 $ 5,786.00 $ 5,786.00 $ - $ - $ - 100.00% 
Inlands/Wetlands $ 2,235.00 $ 2,235.00 $ 610.00 $ 1,625.00 $ - $ 1,625.00 27.29% 
Economic Development $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00 $ 590.00 $ 1,410.00 $ - $ 1,410.00 29.50% 
Elections $ 44,931.00 $ 44,931.00 $ 38,477.47 $ 6,453.53 $ - $ 6,453.53 85.64% 
Parks/Town Building Ops $ 798,907.00 $ 794,907.00 $ 686,089.00 $ 108,818.00 $ - $ 108,818.00 86.31% 
Police $ 404,927.00 $ 404,927.00 $ 364,146.31 $ 40,780.69 $ - $ 40,780.69 89.93% 
Fire Commission $ 210,797.00 $ 250,797.00 $ 244,155.98 $ 6,641.02 $ 6,641.02 97.35% 
Animal Control $ 3,000.00 $ 3,000.00 $ 3,000.00 $ - $ - $ - 100.00% 
Fire Marshal $ 29,500.00 $ 29,500.00 $ 11,694.14 $ 17,805.86 $ - $ 17,805.86 39.64% 
Emergency Management $ 19,293.00 $ 19,293.00 $ 15,992.39 $ 3,300.61 $ - $ 3,300.61 82.89% 
Highways and Streets $ 1,028,960.00 $ 1,028,960.00 $ 896,518.84 $ 132,441.16 $ - $ 132,441.16 87.13% 
Public Building Commission $ 540.00 $ 540.00 $ - $ 540.00 $ - $ 540.00 0.00% 
Public Health Admin $ 30,250.00 $ 30,250.00 $ 28,295.64 $ 1,954.36 $ - $ 1,954.36 93.54% 
Seniors/ Social Services $ 180,563.00 $ 180,563.00 $ 146,406.96 $ 34,156.04 $ - $ 34,156.04 81.08% 
Library $ 292,286.00 $ 292,286.00 $ 280,868.82 $ 11,417.18 $ - $ 11,417.18 96.09% 
Conservation $ 1,625.00 $ 1,625.00 $ 1,366.71 $ 258.29 $ - $ 258.29 84.11% 
Waste Collection $ 510,982.00 $ 517,035.25 $ 515,773.08 $ 1,262.17 $ - $ 1,262.17 99.76% 
Totals $ 6,285,574.00 $ 6,267,574.00 $ 5,588,126.67 $ 679,447.33 $ - $ 679,447.33 89.19% 

21



FY2022 September30, 2021 Revised % 
Adopted Budget Budget ExpenseYTD Balance Encumbrance Unexpended Expensed FY21 FY20 FY19 

Administration $ 721,079.00 $ 721,079.00 $ 91,114.29 $ 629,964.71 $ - $ 629,964.71 12.64% 11.98% 24.42% 17.01% 
Board of Finance $ 2,200.00 $ 2,200.00 $ 67.00 $ 2,133.00 $ - $ 2,133.00 3.05% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
Financial Administration $ 236,040.00 $ 236,040.00 $ 30,827.56 $ 205,212.44 $ - $ 205,212.44 13.06% 13.37% 13.08% 13.65% 
Auditing $ 26,500.00 $ 26,500.00 $ - $ 26,500.00 $ - $ 26,500.00 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
Assessor $ 83,246.00 $ 83,246.00 $ 11,446.47 $ 71,799.53 $ -- $ 71,799.53 13.75% 13.85% 13.80% 13.78% 
Tax Collector $ 87,680.00 $ 87,680.00 $ 15,031.68 $ 72,648.32 $ - $ 72,648.32 17.14% 14.64% 16.10% 15.03% 
Fringe Benefits $ 895,821.00 $ 895,821.00 $ 110,344.07 $ 785,476.93 $ - $ 785,476.93 12.32% 14.25% 15.73% 16.47% 
Town Clerk $ 136,058.00 $ 136,058.00 $ 18,614.59 $ 117,443.41 $ 7,125.00 $ 110,318.41 18.92% 18.97% 19.81% 19.48% 
Land Use $ 309,845.00 $ 309,845.00 $ 31,392.90 $ 278,452.10 $ 23,200.00 $ 255,252.10 17.62% 20.83% 17.72% 18.10% 
Planning & Zoning $ 4,940.00 $ 4,940.00 $ 163.75 $ 4,776.25 $ - $ 4,776.25 3.31% 2.25% 1.14% 4.67% 
Zoning Board of Appeals $ 1,640.00 $ 1,640.00 $ 34.44 $ 1,605.56 $ - $ 1,605.56 2.10% 0.00% 0.00% 27.42% 
Property Insurance $ 143,900.00 $ 143,900.00 $ 40,071.85 $ 103,828.15 $ - $ 103,828.15 27.85% 31.05% 26.26% 22.67% 
Probate $ 5,960.00 $ 5,960.00 $ - $ 5,960.00 $ - $ 5,960.00 0.00% 0.00% 100.00% 0.00% 
Inlands/Wetlands $ 2,235.00 $ 2,235.00 $ 67.00 $ 2,168.00 $ - $ 2,168.00 3.00% 3.36% 10.44% 7.31% 
Economic Development $ 2,000.00 $ 2,000.00 $ - $ 2,000.00 $ - $ 2,000.00 0.00% 0.00% 4.25% 0.00% 
Elections $ 44,383.00 $ 44,383.00 $ 6,041.30 $ 38,341.70 $ 1,000.00 $ 37,341.70 15.86% 19.90% 4.82% 8.23% 
Parks/Town Building Ops s 813,493.00 s 813,493.00 s 83,526.36 s 729,966.64 $ 8,765.26 $ 721,201.38 11.35% 13.08% 13.69% 13.21% 
Police $ 391,050.00 $ 391,050.00 $ - $ 391,050.00 $ - $ 391,050.00 0.00% 0.01% 0.00% 0.00% 
Fire Commission $ 223,538.00 $ 223,538.00 $ 4,726.62 $ 218,811.38 $ 43,911.40 $ 174,899.98 21.76% 19.96% 54.68% 44.36% 
Animal Control $ 3,000.00 $ 3,000.00 $ - $ 3,000.00 $ - $ 3,000.00 0.00% 100.00% 85.71% 85.71% 
Fire Marshal $ 33,000.00 $ 33,000.00 $ 709.29 $ 32,290.71 $ - $ 32,290.71 2.15% 5.05% 0.00% 13.65% 
Emergency Management $ 19,693.00 $ 19,693.00 $ 2,369.24 $ 17,323.76 $ - $ 17,323.76 12.03% 11.68% 0.00% 0.00% 
Highways and Streets $ 1,039,838.00 $ 1,039,838.00 $ 52,237.75 $ 987,600.25 $ 138,162.48 $ 849,437.77 18.31% 27.94% 32.40% 28.50% 
Public Building Commission $ 1,100.00 $ 1,100.00 $ - $ 1,100.00 $ - $ 1,100.00 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 
Public Health Admin $ 30,900.00 $ 30,900.00 $ 7,191.69 $ 23,708.31 $ - $ 23,708.31 23.27% 22.97% 20.43% 20.90% 
Seniors/ Social Services $ 180,421.00 $ 180,421.00 $ 18,317.64 $ 162,103.36 $ - $ 162,103.36 10.15% 10.53% 18.47% 16.42% 
Library $ 292,454.00 $ 292,454.00 $ 56,015.84 $ 236,438.16 $ 16,149.00 $ 220,289.16 24.68% 20.57% 26.65% 31.57% 
Conservation $ 1,805.00 $ 1,805.00 $ 87.00 $ 1,718.00 $ - $ 1,718.00 4.82% 10.46% 15.08% 15.24% 
Waste Collection $ 522,604.00 $ 522,604.00 $ 45,580.46 $ 477,023.54 $ - $ 477,023.54 8.72% 14.32% 13.08% 13.52% 
Totals $ 6,256,423.00 $ 6,256,423.00 $ 625,978.79 $ 5,630,444.21 $ 238,313.14 $ 5,392,131.07 13.81% 11.49% 23.95% 16.53% 

22



FY 2021 Transfers made  after 9/2/21

34.00$                  From Prof. Ed. Training-Tax Collector To Office Oper. Supplies-Tax Collector

Rationale:  To cover cost of office chairs because previous money moved for this was used to reimburse resident

for t stop payment charges because town employee lost resident's check.

76.13$                  From Office Operating Supplies-Fire Comm. To Other Supplies-Fire Comm.

Rationale: funds necessary to cover 2 Village Sprimgs water invoices

23



FY2022 Transfers for October 2021

5,000.00$            To Other Payroll-Assessor From Regular Payroll-Assessor

Rationale:  

25,000.00$          To Regular Payorll-Building & Land Use From Prof./Tech. Services-Building & Land Use

Rationale:  

1,600.00$            To Prof./Tech. Services-Administrative From Dues & Fees-Administrative

Rationale:    Underfunded

24



THE TOWN OF BOLTON 

CHARTER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

REVISED TO  JULY 1, 2022

25



 

 

 

 

BOLTON TOWN CHARTER 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

             

 Page 

CHAPTER 1.  Incorporation, General Powers and Definitions              

 

   1.1 Incorporation                     1 

      1.2 Rights and Obligations                     1 

      1.3 General Grant of Powers            1 

   1.4 Definitions              2 

 

CHAPTER 2.  Elections, General         

         

   2.1 General, State, National            3    

   2.2 General, Town             3 

      2.3 Eligibility              3 

      2.4 Breaking a Tie              3 

      2.5       Board for Admission of Electors           4    

   2.6 Nomination of Party Affiliated and Independent                          4 

    Candidate        

      

    

CHAPTER 3.  Elected Commissions, Boards, Agencies and Officers     

 

   3.1 Commissions, Boards Agencies and Officers           5 

      3.2 General Powers and Duties            5     

   3.3 Commencement and Duration of Term          5     

   3.4 Quadrennial State Elections:  Offices, Terms,          6 

    Additional Duties and Transition               

   3.5 Biennial Town Elections:  Commissions, Boards,          6  

    Agencies and Officers, Terms and Additional Duties 

      3.6 Justices of the Peace             7 

     

CHAPTER 4.  The Board of Education       

    

   4.1 General              8 

       

CHAPTER 5.  The Select Board  

           

   5.1 Powers and Duties             9  

      5.2 Town Administrator              11 

   5.3  Public Hearing on and Publication of Ordinances                       14 

    and Power of Overrule      

    5.4 Emergency Ordinances           15 

       

 

26



 

 

 

 

 

            Page 

CHAPTER 6.  First Selectperson        

 

   6.1 General         16 

   6.2 Power and Duties        16 

   6.3 Delegation of Duties        16 

   6.4 Deputy First Selectperson       16 

   

CHAPTER 7.  Appointed Commissions, Boards and Agencies    

 

   7.1 Commissions, Boards, Agencies      17  

   7.2 Appointment to Commissions, Boards and Agencies    17  

   7.3 Membership         17  

   7.4 Appointed Commissions, Boards, and Agencies:    18  

    Membership, Terms, Additional Powers, and Duties   

 

CHAPTER 8.  Finance and Taxation          

   

   8.1    Fiscal Year          21 

    8.2    Audits           21 

    8.3    Treasurer          21 

    8.4    Preparation of the Budget and Capital Improvement     21 

    Report         

   8.5    Adoption of the Budget        24 

    8.6    Special Appropriations and Transfers of      26  

    Appropriations       

   8.7    Reserve Fund for Capital and Nonrecurring      27 

    Expenditures        

   8.8    Borrowing          29 

   8.9    Expenditures and Accounting        30 

   8.10    Additional Items         30 

 

CHAPTER 9.   Town Meeting         

     

   9.1    General           31 

    9.2    Annual Town Meeting        31 

   9.3    When Action By Special Town Meeting Required     31 

    9.4    Petition For a Special Town Meeting on a New Item     32 

   9.5    Special Town Meeting For Overrule        33  

    of Certain Board Actions  

    9.6       Petition for Enactment, Amendment or Repeal of      34 

              Ordinances 

   9.7    Actions That Require Referendum       35 

   9.8    Petition for Overrule of Town Meeting Action      36 

   9.9   Procedure          36 

    9.10     Town Meeting Moderator        37   

 

---

27



 

 

 

 

 

 

            Page 

CHAPTER 10. Qualifications and Limitations Re:  Service on all       

   Boards/Commissions/Offices        

 

   10.1    Minority Representation        38   

    10.2    Incompatible Offices         38  

   10.3    Conflicts of Interest         39 

    10.4    Official Bonds          40 

   

CHAPTER 11. Organization of the Boards, Meetings and Records   

 

   11.1    Organization Meeting         41  

   11.2    Uniform Meetings Procedure                                                    41 

       

CHAPTER 12. Removal/Vacancies         

   

   12.1    Suspension and Removal        44 

   12.2     Vacancies in Appointed Positions       45 

   12.3.    Vacancies in Elected Offices        45 

 

CHAPTER 13. Transition and Miscellaneous Provisions      

 

   13.1    Transfer of Powers         46  

    13.2    Continuation of Appropriations and Town Funds                46 

   13.3    Legal Proceedings         46 

    13.4    Existing Laws and Ordinances                                        46 

   13.5    Review and Amendment of Charter                                          46 

   13.6    Saving Clause                                                                            47 

   13.7    Effective Date          47 

   13.8    References to the General Statutes       47 

   13.9 Transitional Provisions        47 

    

  

---

28



 

 

 

 

 

CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP 
 

APPOINTED BY THE Select Board AT A REGULAR MEETING HELD ON NOVEMBER 12, 

2019. 

 

 NAME        ADDRESS 

  

James Aldrich                                                                        35 Hanover Farms Road  

  

Jay Brudz                                                                               25 Hanover Farms Road  

    

Eleanor Georges, vice chair                                                   19 Shoddy Mill Road  

    

Richard P. Hayes, Jr.   

        

Gwen Marrion, chair                                                              38 Maple Valley Road  

    

Adam J. Teller                                                                        23 Elizabeth Road   

    

John B. Toomey, Jr.                                                               45 Hebron Road  

   

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

ORIGINAL CHARTER ADOPTED AT THE NOVEMBER 2, 1976 STATE ELECTION 

         EFFECTIVE:  JULY 1, 1977 

 

CHARTER REVISION ADOPTED AT A REFERENDUM HELD ON MAY 4, 1981 

        EFFECTIVE DATE:  JUNE 3, 1981 

 

CHARTER REVISION ADOPTED AT THE MAY 3, 1993 MUNICIPAL ELECTION 

        EFFECTIVE DATE:  JULY 1, 1993 

 

CHARTER REVISION ADOPTED AT THE NOVEMBER 3, 1998 GUBERNATORIAL 

ELECTION  EFFECTIVE DATE:  JULY 1, 1999 

   

CHARTER REVISION ADOPTED AT THE NOVEMBER 4, 2008 PRESIDENTIAL 

ELECTION         EFFECTIVE DATE:  JULY 1, 2009  

      

CHARTER REVISION ADOPTED AT THE NOVEMBER 2, 2020 MUNICIPAL ELECTION 

        EFFECTIVE DATE:  JULY 1, 2022 

   

29



 

 

1 

 

CHAPTER 1. 
 

INCORPORATION, GENERAL POWERS AND DEFINITIONS 
 

Section 1.1   INCORPORATION 

 

All the inhabitants dwelling within the territorial limits of the Town of Bolton, as heretofore 

or hereafter constituted, shall continue to be a body politic and corporate under the name 

of "The Town of Bolton” hereinafter called the "Town”.  The Town shall have perpetual 

succession and may hold and exercise all the powers and privileges heretofore exercised 

by the Town and not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, the additional powers 

and privileges herein conferred, and all powers and privileges conferred upon towns by the 

Constitution and General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. 

 

Section 1.2   RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS 

 

All property, both real and personal, all rights of action and rights of every description, and 

all securities and liens vested or inchoate in the Town as of the effective date of this Charter 

shall continue to be vested in the Town. The Town shall continue to be liable for all debts 

and obligations of every kind for which the Town shall be liable on this date. Nothing 

herein shall be construed to affect the right of the Town to collect any prior and/or future 

assessment, charge, debt or lien. If any contract has been entered into by the Town prior to 

the effective date of this Charter or any bond or undertaking has been given by or in favor 

of the Town which contains a provision that the same may be enforced by any commission, 

board, agency or officer therein named, which is abolished by the provisions of this 

Charter, such contracts, bonds or undertakings shall continue in full force and effect, and 

the powers conferred and the duties imposed with reference to the same upon any such 

commission, board, agency or officer shall, except as otherwise provided in the Charter, 

thereafter be exercised and discharged by the Select Board. 

 

Section 1.3   GENERAL GRANT OF POWERS 

 

In addition to all powers granted to towns under the Constitution and General Statutes or 

which may hereafter be conferred, the Town shall have all powers specifically granted by 

this Charter and all powers fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted, 

all powers conferred by special acts of the General Assembly, not inconsistent with this 

Charter, and all other powers incident to the management of the property, government and 

affairs of the Town including the power to enter into contracts with the United States 

Government or any branch thereof, the State of Connecticut or any agency or other body 

politic or corporate not expressly forbidden by the Constitution and General Statutes.  The 

enumeration of particular powers in this and any other chapter of this Charter shall  

not be construed as limiting this general grant of power but shall be considered as an 

addition thereto. This Charter shall be the organic law of the Town in the administration of 

local affairs. 

 

 

30



 

 

2 

 

Section 1.4   DEFINITIONS 

 

(A)  Whenever the term “Town” is used herein, the term shall not only include the Town 

as a geographic and political entity, but shall also include all of its boards and agencies 

including the Board of Education. 

 

(B)  Whenever the term “Supermajority” is used herein with reference to any Town Board, 

Commission, or subdivision thereof, it shall be understood to mean a number of votes equal 

to a majority of all of the current members of the Board, Commission or subdivision thereof  

plus one additional vote.   

 

(C)   Whenever the term “Total Expenditure Amount” is used herein it shall be understood 

to mean the amount of Town expenditures authorized in the most recently adopted Town 

budget. 

 

(D) Whenever the terms “First Selectperson”, “Select Board” or “Selectboard Member” 

are used herein those terms shall have the same meaning as the terms “First Selectman”, 

“Board of Selectmen” and “Selectman” as used in the Connecticut General Statutes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

31



 

 

3 

 

CHAPTER 2. 
 

ELECTIONS, GENERAL 
 

Section 2.1   GENERAL, STATE, NATIONAL 

 

Nominations and elections of state and federal officers, Justices of the Peace and Registrars 

of Voters shall be conducted as prescribed by the General Statutes. The Registrars of Voters 

shall prepare lists of electors qualified to vote in elections in the manner prescribed in the 

Constitution and the general laws of the State of Connecticut. 

 

Section 2.2   GENERAL, TOWN 

 

A meeting of the electors of the Town of Bolton for the election of commissions, boards, 

agencies and officers of the Town shall be held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday 

in November 2011, and biennially thereafter. 

 

Section 2.3   ELIGIBILITY 

 

No person shall be eligible for election to any Town office who is not, at the time of their 

nomination and election, an elector of said Town, as defined by Section 9-1 of the General 

Statutes, and any person ceasing to be an elector of said Town shall thereupon cease to 

hold such elected office in the Town. 

 

Section 2.4   BREAKING A TIE 

 

(A)  When any regular or special municipal election conducted pursuant to the provisions 

of this Charter results in a tie, the tie shall be broken by a single toss of a coin carried out 

by a third party selected by the tied candidates. Upon written request by either of the tied 

candidates an adjourned election shall be held and conducted in accordance with Section 

9-332 of the General Statutes. If an election for the position of First Selectperson results in 

a tie, an adjourned election shall be held to determine who shall serve in that position. Upon 

written request of both of the tied candidates for First Selectperson the tie shall be broken 

by a coin toss as described in this paragraph.  

 

(B)  When any primary election results in a tie, such tie shall be resolved in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 9-446 of the General Statutes. 

 

(C)  When any referendum conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Charter results in 

a tie an adjourned election shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Section 

9-332 of the General Statutes to determine whether the question shall be accepted or 

rejected.  The provisions of this section shall not apply to questions at referendum which, 

under the provisions of this Charter or the General Statutes require a minimum number of 

electors voting in favor of such questions for approval. Any adjourned referendum to be 

held pursuant to this provision shall be held no less than seven (7) nor no more than 

fourteen (14) days after the referendum which resulted in a tie and shall be confined to the 

32



 

 

4 

 

tied issues. If voting machines are not available in sufficient number, paper ballots may be 

used in place of or in conjunction with voting machines. 

 

Section 2.5   BOARD FOR ADMISSION OF ELECTORS 

 

The Town Clerk and the Registrars of Voters shall constitute the Board for admission of 

electors and perform the duties prescribed in Chapter 143 of the General Statutes, subject 

to the change of membership in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-15a of the 

General Statutes. 

 

   Section 2.6   NOMINATION OF PARTY AFFILIATED AND INDEPENDENT            

CANDIDATE 

 

(A)  All elected Commissions, Boards, Agencies and Offices. The name of any person who 

is an elector of the Town shall be placed on the ballot at the Town election as a candidate 

for any office to be filled if such person has been nominated by a political party in 

accordance with the provisions of the General Statutes or in whose behalf there shall be 

filed a petition presenting such person as a candidate for election, said petition to be filed 

in accordance with the requirements of Section 9-453 et seq. of the General Statutes, the 

sufficiency of said petition to be determined by the Town Clerk and the Secretary of State 

as provided therein, and which candidacy shall in all other respects meet the requirements 

and conditions set forth herein. The names of all candidates duly nominated shall be 

arranged according to the election procedures as established by the General Statutes. 

 

(B)  Board of Education. Candidates for election to the Board of Education shall be 

nominated and elected in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-204b of the General 

Statutes. 

  

33



 

 

5 

 

 

CHAPTER 3. 
 

ELECTED COMMISSIONS, BOARDS, AGENCIES AND OFFICERS 
 

Section 3.1   COMMISSIONS, BOARDS, AGENCIES AND OFFICERS 

 

(A)  State Elections. The following office shall be filled by election at the time of State 

elections: 

       Registrars of Voters   

 

(B)  Town Elections. The following Town commissions, boards, agencies and offices shall 

be filled at the time of the Town election: 

      First Selectperson  

      Select Board   

      Finance Committee (At-Large members) 

      Board of Education   

      Board of Assessment Appeals 

      Town Meeting Moderator 

 

(C)  Other. The following Town Office shall be filled by selection in accordance with the 

provisions of the General Statutes: 

       Justices of the Peace 

 

Section 3.2   GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES 

 

All elected Town commissions, boards, agencies and officers shall have all the powers and 

duties, not inconsistent with this Charter, conferred or imposed upon them by the General 

Statutes and such other powers and duties conferred or imposed upon them by this Charter. 

 

Section 3.3   COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION OF TERM 

 

(A)  The term of office for each Registrar of Voters shall commence on the Wednesday 

following the first Monday of January succeeding their election unless otherwise provided 

by the General Statutes or by this Charter. 

 

(B)  The term of Justices of the Peace shall begin on the first Monday of January succeeding 

their nomination as provided in Section 9-183b of the General Statutes. 

 

(C)  The term of office for each person elected at the Town elections shall commence on 

the second Monday following their election unless otherwise provided by the General 

Statutes or by this Charter. 

 

 

 

34



 

 

6 

 

(D)  All persons elected or selected to any commission, board, agency or office pursuant 

to the provisions of Chapters 2 and 3 of this Charter shall take office upon qualification, 

and shall continue to hold such position until their successor is duly elected and qualified. 

 

Section 3.4   QUADRENNIAL STATE ELECTIONS: OFFICES, TERMS,                  

ADDITIONAL DUTIES AND TRANSITION 

 

(A)  Registrar of Voters. There shall be two Registrars of Voters, one for each major 

political party, in accordance with Section 9-189a of the General Statutes, each of whom 

shall serve a term of four (4) years. Each Registrar of Voters shall appoint a Deputy 

Registrar of Voters in accordance with Section 9-192 of the General Statutes, who shall 

serve at the pleasure of the Registrar who appointed such Deputy. 

 

Section 3.5   BIENNIAL TOWN ELECTIONS: COMMISSIONS, BOARDS,     

AGENCIES AND OFFICERS, TERMS AND ADDITIONAL DUTIES 

 

(A)  First Selectperson. The First Selectperson shall serve a term of four (4) years. 

 

(B)  Select Board.  The Select Board shall consist of the First Selectperson and six (6) other 

Select Board Members, each of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years. The votes cast 

for any unsuccessful candidate for First Selectperson shall be counted as votes for such person as 

a Select Board Member in that same election. However, notwithstanding any other provision of 

this Charter, no person may serve simultaneously in more than one position on the Select Board, 

or on the Select Board and in any other elected Town office, and a person shall be deemed to have 

vacated any such existing elected position immediately upon taking the oath to serve in any other 

elected Town office. Beginning in the manner provided by Section 13 of this Charter, the terms of 

the members of the Select Board shall be staggered so that the First Selectperson and three (3) 

Select Board Members shall be elected in the same regular biennial municipal election, and three 

(3) Select Board Members shall be elected in the next regular biennial municipal election.  
   

(C)  Finance Committee.  The Finance Committee shall consist of four (4) voting Ex-

Officio members and three (3) voting members elected At-Large by the electors of the 

Town. One Ex-Officio member of the Finance Committee shall be the First Selectperson, 

or another Select Board Member appointed by the First Selectperson to serve in place 

thereof.  One Ex-Officio member of the Finance Committee (who shall not be a member 

of the same political party as the First Selectperson or their designee serving as Ex-Officio 

member) shall be selected from the Select Board Members, and shall be appointed by the 

Select Board.  When the First Selectperson serves personally, the First Selectperson’s term 

as an Ex-Officio member of the Finance Committee shall be coterminous with their term 

as First Selectperson, provided that the First Selectperson may designate another Select 

Board Member to serve in place of the First Selectperson for a term as provided herein.  

Two (2) Ex-Officio members of the Finance Committee (who shall not both be members 

of the same political party) shall be selected from the members of the Board of Education, 

and shall be appointed by the Board of Education. All Ex-Officio members of the Finance 

Committee (except the First Selectperson when serving personally) shall serve a term of 

two (2) years, or until a replacement has been appointed and qualified, whichever is later. 

Ex-Officio members may be re-appointed to successive terms, but no Ex-Officio member 

35



 

 

7 

 

shall continue as a member of the Finance Committee after vacating their elected office, 

unless elected to an At-Large position.  Each member of the Finance Committee elected 

At-Large shall serve a term of four (4) years. Beginning in the manner provided in Section 

13 of this Charter, the terms of the At-Large members of the Finance Committee shall be 

staggered so that two (2) At-Large members shall be elected at same regular biennial 

municipal election, and one (1) At-Large member shall be elected at the next regular 

biennial municipal election. No member of the Select Board or the Board of Education may 

serve as an At-Large member of the Finance Committee. The chair of the Finance 

Committee shall be elected by the Committee from among its members at its organizational 

meeting. 

 

(D)  Board of Education. The Board of Education shall consist of seven (7) members each 

of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years. 

 

(E)  Board of Assessment Appeals. The Board of Assessment Appeals shall consist of three 

(3) members each of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years. 

 

(F)  Town Meeting Moderator. The Town Meeting Moderator shall serve a term of two (2) 

years. 

 

Section 3.6   JUSTICES OF THE PEACE 

 

The number of Justices of the Peace shall be that prescribed by, and selected in accordance 

with the provisions of Sections 9-183b, 9-183c, 9-184, 9-184c and 9-186 of the General 

Statutes. 

  

36



 

 

8 

 

 

CHAPTER 4. 
 

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION 
 

Section 4.1   GENERAL 

 

The Board of Education shall perform such duties and have such powers as are or may be 

imposed or vested by the General Statutes upon Boards of Education and shall perform all 

acts required of said board by the Town or necessary to carry into effect the powers and 

duties imposed upon said Board of Education by law. 

  

37



 

 

9 

 

 

CHAPTER 5. 
 

THE SELECT BOARD  
 

Section 5.1   POWERS AND DUTIES 

 

(A)  General Powers. The Select Board shall have the powers and duties hereinafter 

conferred by this Charter and all those powers and duties which are conferred upon boards 

of selectmen by the Constitution and all applicable sections of the General Statutes. The 

legislative authority shall be vested in the Select Board except as provided in Chapter 10 

of this Charter. 

 

(B)  1.  Except as otherwise provided by the General Statutes or this Charter, no action 

shall be taken by the Select Board unless a majority of the entire Select Board votes in 

favor of such action. 

 

        2. Any action regarding the adoption, amendment or repeal of ordinances, not 

inconsistent with this Charter or the provisions of the General Statutes, shall require the 

affirmative vote of a Supermajority of the Select Board. 

 

(C)  Additional Powers and Duties. The Select Board, in addition to the other powers and 

duties set forth in this Charter, shall have the following additional powers and duties: 

 

       1.  Assist the Finance Committee in assembling, compiling and publishing the Annual 

Report of the Town; 

 

       2.  Create, consolidate or abolish permanent and temporary commissions, boards, 

agencies or offices. The Select Board shall appoint the members to and prescribe the 

powers and duties of such commissions, boards, agencies or offices. The term of temporary 

commissions, boards, agencies or offices shall not exceed eighteen (18) months except as 

provided in Section 7.4 (D) with regard to the Temporary Public Building Commission.  

 

       3.  Participate in and appoint representatives to state, regional and intertown agencies; 

 

       4.  Convene any or all Town commissions, boards, agencies and officers to review, 

plan or coordinate activities and operations of Town government, and may require reports 

to be submitted to it from all commissions, boards, agencies and officers; 

 

       5.  Hold such special Town Meetings as shall be necessary to carry out the functions 

of the Town; 

 

 6. Adopt, amend or repeal ordinances, not inconsistent with this Charter or the 

provisions of the General Statutes, only upon the affirmative vote of a supermajority of the 

Select Board; 

38



 

 

10 

 

       7.  Employ such staff, including professionals, and delegate to such staff such powers, 

duties and responsibilities, consistent with the provisions of this Charter, as the Select 

Board deems desirable for the purpose of carrying out the Board's duties and 

responsibilities; 

 

       8.  Adopt pay plans including wage scales, salaries, and benefits for all positions of 

the Town except employees of the Board of Education and file the same with the Town 

Clerk and the Finance Committee; 

 

       9. Adopt policies and regulations pertaining to the conduct, employment, work 

performance of Town Employees, except employees of the Board of Education, and 

termination of Town Employment, and may delegate the administration of these policies 

and regulations in whole or in part to the First Selectperson and/or the Town Administrator; 

 

       10.  Contract for services and use of facilities of any federal agency, state agency or 

any political subdivision thereof;  

 

       11. Accept or refuse to accept Town roads after receipt of a full report from the 

Planning and Zoning Commission; 

 

       12.  Institute, prosecute, defend or compromise any legal action or proceedings by or 

against the Town; 

 

       13.  Investigate any and all subject matters within the scope of authority for action by 

the Town including, but not limited to, all commissions, boards, agencies and offices of 

the Town; and, for the purposes of such investigation, call Town officers and/or any 

member of any Town commission, board or agency, to appear before the Select Board to 

testify and furnish documentation on any matter under investigation; 

 

       14.  Generally supervise the administration of the affairs of the Town, except those 

matters which by the General Statutes, or by this Charter, are exclusively committed to the 

Board of Education; 

 

      15.  May administer in whole or in part the purchase of supplies, materials, equipment 

and other commodities required by any office, board, commission or agency of the Town 

except the Board of Education; 

 

      16.  May administer in whole or in part the maintenance of any public building, park, 

playground, road or other facility under the care of any office, board, commission or agency 

of the Town, except any thereof under the care of the Board of Education; 

 

      17.  May act for the Board of Education in matters provided for in Section 5.1 (C) 

Subsections 15 and 16 above upon agreement with the Board of Education; 

 

      18.  Supervise and administer regulations with respect to accounting and expenditures 

as established by the Finance Committee in accord with Section 8.9 of this Charter. 

39



 

 

11 

 

    19. The Select Board may ensure that a twenty (20) year long range plan shall be 

developed and updated annually and that such plan shall include, but not be limited to, 

capital items and land use. 

 

   20. The Select Board shall appoint all appointed officers of the Town by ordinance, 

except where otherwise provided in this Charter. All of the Town's appointed officers shall 

serve at the pleasure of the Select Board. 

 

  21. The Select Board shall perform a formal written annual review of the Town 

Administrator. 

Section 5.2 TOWN ADMINISTRATOR 

(A)  The Select Board shall appoint a Town Administrator to assist the Select Board in 

conducting Town affairs by performing such responsible and high level administrative, 

supervisory and research duties and functions as may be determined by the Select Board. 

The Town Administrator shall serve at the pleasure of the Select Board, and may be 

appointed or removed by vote of a majority of the entire Board. The Town Administrator 

shall be hired by the Select Board after having been chosen exclusively on the basis of 

technical and administrative qualifications, character, ability to interact with the public, 

educational background and training/certification and professionally related experience.  

(B)  The Town Administrator shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town and 

shall be responsible to and work under the general direction of the First Selectperson and 

Select Board. 

(C)  The Town Administrator shall have the authority to suspend employees, except 

appointed Town officers and employees of the Board of Education, pending disposition by 

the Select Board or the First Selectperson 

 (D)  The Select Board may delegate to the Town Administrator, by ordinance, the 

authority to hire or discharge without prior approval of the Select Board, provided that such 

delegation of authority shall not extend to appointed Town officers, department heads, or 

employees or contractors of the Board of Education. 

(E) The Town Administrator shall perform a formal written annual review of each 

department head (as established by the Select Board) and report those reviews in writing 

to the First Selectperson, with a copy to the Select Board including any recommendations 

for action.  The First Selectperson shall then indicate to the Select Board whether the First 

Selectperson concurs in the recommendations of the Town Administrator, with any 

additional or alternate recommendations, and promptly place the report on the Board’s 

agenda for appropriate consideration or action.  

(F) The Town Administrator shall be bound by the provisions of the Town’s ethics 

policies and ordinances, and shall at all times conduct themself in a professional and 

nonpartisan manner.  Except for ex officio appointments pursuant to this charter or by 

ordinance, the Town Administrator shall not hold any other elected or appointed Town 

40



 

 

12 

 

office, and shall not be an officer or member of any other organization within the Town 

which could give the appearance of a conflict of interest, such organizations including but 

not limited to: 

1.   The Bolton Land Trust 

2.   The Bolton Volunteer Fire Department 

3.   The Bolton Parent Teacher Association 

4.   The Community Voice Channel 

 (G)  The Town Administrator shall have the following authority and shall perform the 

following duties: 

1.      Managing the day-to-day operations of municipal government including, 

but not limited to, administrative services, public works, building and grounds 

maintenance, public safety, social services, recreation services and library services. 

 2.      Coordinating the preparation of annual general government budget, capital 

improvements budget and debt service budget in conjunction with the First 

Selectperson. 

 3.      Developing and recommending to the Select Board long range capital and 

infrastructure improvement plans. 

 4.      Assisting in labor relations activities including information gathering, 

analysis and preparation, and participating in collective bargaining negotiations on 

behalf of the Town. 

5.      Serving as risk manager and coordinating health insurance, property & 

liability insurance and workers’ compensation insurance programs. 

6.      Coordinating purchasing of goods and services including responsibility for 

implementing and enforcing competitive bidding procedures. 

 7.      Except as to matters relating to employees entirely under the direction of 

the Board of Education, serving as the Town’s personnel manager, including but 

not limited to coordinating hiring programs, resolving employee problems, 

performing employee evaluations and administering disciplinary action. 

8.      Supervising financial matters including tracking and reporting of revenues 

and expenditures and preparation of the annual audit.  Monitoring debt service 

payments and assists in the issuance of notes and bonds as required. The Town 

Administrator may serve as deputy or assistant Town Treasurer.  

9.      Responding to inquiries and requests from the public, local officials, and 

state/federal agencies in a professional and timely manner. Interacting with the 

41



 

 

13 

 

public in a helpful and cooperative manner that reflects a positive image of the 

Town and its staff. 

 10.    When requested by the Select Board, writing proposals for competitive and 

non-competitive State and Federal grants and administering grant programs. 

11.    Keeping the Select Board fully apprised of Town business and following 

guidelines as established by the Select Board for the appropriate flow of 

information and communication from Town staff, residents, and third parties 

through the office of the Town Administrator to the Select Board. 

12.    Exercising such powers and performing such additional responsible and 

high level administrative, supervisory and research duties and responsibilities, not 

inconsistent with this Charter, as may be assigned by ordinance and/or resolution 

of the Select Board. 

 13.    Making recommendations to the First Selectperson or Select Board for 

hiring or discharging all employees of the Town, except appointed Town officers 

and employees of the Board of Education. 

(H)   If specified by Town ordinance, the Town Administrator may have the following 

authority and perform the following duties: 

1.       Assisting the First Selectperson with preparing Select Board meeting 

agendas including analysis of, and recommendations on, pertinent issues. 

 2.   Developing policies, proposing additions, deletions or modifications to 

regulations and ordinances for review and approval by the Select Board. With the 

consent of the Select Board, the Town Administrator may, and in the case of any 

proposed additions, deletions or modifications to Town regulations or ordinances 

shall, seek the advice of the town counsel on legal issues within the scope of the 

Administrator’s duties, and may be assigned to serve as liaison for the Select Board 

with the town counsel. 

 3.       At the request of the Select Board, representing the Town on regional and 

state organizations including, but not limited to, the Capitol Region Council of 

Governments, Council of Small Towns, Connecticut Conference of Municipalities, 

Eastern Highlands Health District and other committees as may be required. 

 4.   Responding to inquiries and requests from the media a professional and 

timely manner 

 5.  Serving as town recycling/refuse disposal coordinator. 

 6.  Serving as the Bolton Lakes Regional Water Pollution Control Authority 

Administrator. 

42



 

 

14 

 

7. Executing contracts for the purchase of goods and services on behalf of the 

Town with the approval of the Select Board. 

8.  Serving as the town’s traffic authority.  

(I)   The Select Board shall be authorized to further define and specify the powers and 

duties of the Town Administrator, without diminishing the powers and duties provided 

herein, in a job description and written contract to be reviewed and approved or renewed 

from time to time by the Select Board, provided that: 

1.    The term of each such contract, extension or renewal shall not exceed three 

(3) years. 

2.   The Town Administrator shall not be required to reside in Bolton as a 

condition of employment. 

3.     Such contract, extension or renewal is terminable by the Town for 

convenience with a maximum liability to the Town for such termination of three 

(3) months compensation. 

 

   Section 5.3   PUBLIC HEARING ON AND PUBLICATION OF ORDINANCES AND 

POWER OF OVERRULE 

 

(A)  Public Hearing. Except as provided in Section 5.4 of this Charter, no ordinance shall 

be adopted, amended or repealed by the Select Board until and unless one public hearing 

on such action shall have been held by said Select Board. Notice of such public hearing 

shall be given not less than five (5) days or more than thirty (30) days in advance of such 

hearing by publication in a newspaper having general circulation within the Town, and by 

posting the same as required by law. The Select Board must take action on the proposed 

ordinance within fourteen (14) days after said public hearing. 

 

(B)  Copies. Copies of any proposed ordinance or amendment to an ordinance shall be 

made available for public inspection at the Town Clerk's office at least five (5) days in 

advance of any public hearing thereon. 

 

(C)  Substantive Changes. If substantive changes are made in any proposed ordinance or 

in any proposed amendment to an ordinance subsequent to the public hearing, a second 

public hearing, to be held in accord with subsections (A) and (B) above, shall be held on 

such proposed changes, prior to final action by the Select Board. 

 

(D)  Filing. Every ordinance or amendment to an ordinance after passage, shall be filed 

with the Town Clerk and recorded, compiled and published by the Town Clerk as required 

by law. 

 

(E)  Publication. Within ten (10) days after final passage, a summary of each ordinance, 

amendment or repeal of an ordinance shall be published in a newspaper having general 

43



 

 

15 

 

circulation within the Town and posted as required by law. The entire ordinance, 

amendment or repeal of an ordinance shall be posted at the Town Hall and, when 

practicable, on the Town’s website. 

 

(F)  Effective Date. Each such ordinance, amendment to or repeal of an ordinance shall 

become effective on the thirtieth (30th) day after publication, unless a petition for overruling 

the action of the Select Board on such ordinance is filed with the Town Clerk in accordance 

with Chapter 9. In the event that such petition is filed and the Town Meeting does not 

overrule the action of the Select Board, such ordinance, amendment or repeal shall become 

effective on the day following said Town Meeting vote. 

 

Section 5.4   EMERGENCY ORDINANCES 

 

(A)  Emergency Ordinances. When there exists circumstances which threaten the lives, 

health or property of the inhabitants of the Town, a majority of the Select Board present 

and voting may declare that a state of Public emergency exists. On such declaration, the 

Select Board may, by a majority vote of those members present, enact ordinances to meet 

such emergency without regard to the requirements of Section 5.3.  Emergency ordinances 

shall be so designated and shall state the facts constituting the public emergency. Any 

expenditure to be made pursuant to said emergency ordinances shall be made in accordance 

with the provisions of Section 8.6(E) of this Charter. 

 

(B)  Effective Date, Duration. Emergency ordinances shall become effective immediately 

upon enactment. Every such ordinance shall automatically stand repealed at the termination 

of the thirtieth (30th) day following enactment of said ordinance unless action has been 

initiated to make the emergency ordinance a permanent ordinance under the provisions of 

Section 5.3, in which event such emergency ordinance shall remain in full force and effect 

until final action is taken on the permanent ordinance. 

 

(C)  Publication.  Emergency ordinances shall be published in conformance with the 

applicable General Statutes, as amended from time to time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44



 

 

16 

 

CHAPTER 6. 
 

FIRST SELECTPERSON 
 

Section 6.1   GENERAL 

 

The First Selectperson shall be the chief executive officer of the Town. The First 

Selectperson shall be a voting and participating member of the Select Board and shall 

preside at all meetings of said Board.  The First Selectperson or their designee (who must 

be a Select Board Member) shall be an ex officio non-voting member of all other Town 

commissions, boards, agencies, and committees. 

 

Section 6.2   POWER AND DUTIES 

 

The First Selectperson shall have all powers, duties and responsibilities conferred upon 

that office by the General Statutes, applicable special acts, ordinances, resolutions and 

policies voted by the Town Meeting, the Select Board and by this Charter.  The First 

Selectperson shall preside over all meetings of  the Select Board  in the discharge of its 

duties and responsibilities, and shall have the authority to establish the agenda for all 

meetings, subject to the right of any Member thereof to place a matter on the agenda with 

the concurrence of at least two other Members of the Board. 

 

Section 6.3   DELEGATION OF DUTIES 

 

To assist in the discharge of the duties and responsibilities of their office and of the Select 

Board, the First Selectperson may assign and delegate duties to other Members of the Select 

Board and to such commissions, boards, agencies and offices which are appointed by the 

First Selectperson and/or the Select Board. 

 

Section 6.4   DEPUTY FIRST SELECTPERSON 

 

At the first meeting of the Select Board after they assume office, the Select Board shall 

select a Deputy First Selectperson from the Members of the Select Board. The Deputy First 

Selectperson shall fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the First Selectperson in the First 

Selectperson's absence or disability. 

 

  

45



 

 

17 

 

 

CHAPTER 7. 
 

APPOINTED COMMISSIONS, BOARDS AND AGENCIES 
 

Section 7.1   COMMISSIONS, BOARDS, AGENCIES 

 

(A)  There shall be the following appointed commissions, boards and agencies for the 

Town:   

Board of Fire Commissioners 

Conservation Commission 

Planning & Zoning Commission and Alternates (also designated as the Inland 

Wetlands Commission) 

Library Board 

Temporary Public Building Commission 

Senior Citizens Commission 

Zoning Board of Appeals and Alternates 

 

(B)  GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES 

 

All appointed Town commissions, boards, agencies and officers shall have all the powers 

and duties, not inconsistent with and conferred or imposed thereon by the General Statutes, 

by this Charter, or by ordinance. 

 

(C)  COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION OF TERM 

 

The term of office of any person serving on any appointed Town commission, board, 

agency shall be deemed to commence as of July 1 in the year such appointment is to be 

made, or as soon thereafter as the appointment is made and the person so appointed is 

qualified, and shall continue until June 30 of the year in which said term of office expires 

or until a successor thereto is duly appointed and qualified, whichever shall occur later in 

time. 

 

Section 7.2   APPOINTMENT TO COMMISSIONS, BOARDS AND AGENCIES 

 

All members of appointed commissions, boards and agencies shall be appointed by the 

Select Board by a majority vote of the entire Board. 

 

Section 7.3   MEMBERSHIP 

 

(A)  All members of appointed boards and commissions must be electors of the Town of 

Bolton. Any person who is an elector of the Town at the time of their appointment to any 

Town commission, board or agency and thereafter ceases to be an elector of the Town, 

shall be deemed to have vacated the position to which he or she has been appointed at such 

time that he or she ceases to be an elector of the Town. 

 

46



 

 

18 

 

(B)  Any person appointed to a Town commission, board or agency shall possess such 

qualifications and devote such time as is necessary to carry out their duties as a member of 

such commission, board or agency. 

 

(C) Alternates.  Whenever a Town commission, board, or agency includes alternates, the 

eligibility and qualifications of such alternates to serve shall be the same as those for the 

regular members of such commission, board, or agency. Alternates shall attend and may 

participate in meetings to the fullest extent permitted by law, and when seated by the Chair 

of the commission, board, or agency in place of any regular member not present or 

participating, an alternate shall vote in the stead of such member. 

 

Section 7.4   APPOINTED COMMISSIONS, BOARDS, AND AGENCIES: 

                     MEMBERSHIP, TERMS, ADDITIONAL POWERS, AND DUTIES 

 

(A)  Conservation Commission. The Conservation Commission shall consist of no less than 

five (5) members and one (1) alternate, each of whom shall serve a term of three (3) years. 

One or two members shall be appointed annually to succeed the member(s) whose term of 

office expires in that year.  The alternate shall attend meetings and vote in the stead of any 

regular member not present at a particular meeting. Said Commission shall oversee the 

development, supervision, regulation and conservation of natural resources, including 

water resources, in the Town as prescribed by Section 7-131a of the General Statutes and 

such other responsibilities as may be assigned by this Charter. Said Commission's input 

may be sought regarding policies and procedures relative to the development, regulation 

and maintenance of Town parks. 

 

(B)  Board of Fire Commissioners. The Board of Fire Commissioners shall consist of no 

less than five (5) members each of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years on a staggered 

basis with at least one such member being appointed each year to succeed the member(s) 

whose term of office expires in that year. Said board shall have all the powers and duties 

prescribed for a Board of Fire Commissioners in the General Statutes, including 

specifically the authority to enter into an agreement with one volunteer fire company within 

the Town for the protection thereof from fire and for the provision of such emergency 

services as shall be necessary for the health and safety of the inhabitants of the Town on 

such conditions as to financial assistance and the observance of regulations as the Board of 

Fire Commissioners shall require. Such agreement shall be subject to the approval of the 

Select Board. In the event that fire protection and/or emergency services are provided by a 

volunteer fire company, no more than two (2) members of such company or any affiliated 

organization of such company shall be permitted to serve on the Fire Commission at one 

time. The Fire Chief and Deputy Fire Chief of such volunteer fire company shall be 

nominated and elected by the members of the volunteer fire company and approved by the 

Fire Commission by a majority vote of the entire Commission. 

 

(C)  Library Board.  The Library Board shall consist of no less than five (5) members each 

of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years with two or five members appointed biennially 

to succeed the members whose term of office expires in such year.  The Board shall be 

responsible for the management of the Bentley Memorial Library and any other Town 

47



 

 

19 

 

Library facilities excluding Board of Education facilities, funds and equipment related 

thereto; shall establish rules and regulations for the conduct of the library's business and 

for the provision of services to the inhabitants of the Town; and may enter into intertown 

and regional library compacts in the manner and to the extent prescribed by the General 

Statutes. 

 

(D) Temporary Public Building Commission. The Select Board shall appoint a Temporary 

Public Building Commission (TPBC) to review and advise the Select Board on any 

proposed public building project, including new structures, additions to or modification 

(including demolition and disposal) of existing structures, and all appurtenant facilities, 

which have an expected cost of $250,000 or greater, with the exception of proposed 

modifications by Town property lessees which lease shall govern the rights of the parties 

thereto. The TPBC may establish and recommend preferred site selection options for the 

building project, establish architectural requirements, functional specifications, a 

construction plan, and schedule the project. With Select Board approval, it may be involved 

in contract awards and the employment of professional and supervisory personnel. In 

discharging these responsibilities, the TPBC shall receive timely assistance from Town 

staff as needed, as well as timely project financial data from the Select Board at intervals, 

and in the level of detail, which support effective project management. The TPBC shall 

consist of five (5) members and two (2) alternates and, notwithstanding any provision of 

Section 5.1(C) 2 to the contrary, shall remain in effect until the completion of the building 

project as determined by the Select Board.   

 

(E)  Senior Citizens Commission. The Senior Citizens Commission shall consist of no less 

than five (5) members, one of whom may be the Municipal Agent for Assistance to the 

Elderly and shall serve a term of two (2) years; and the remainder of the Commission shall 

serve a term of four (4) years on a staggered basis. The Select Board shall appoint a member 

annually to succeed the member whose term of office expires in that year. The Commission 

shall be responsible for policies and procedures relative to the needs of the Town's senior 

citizens. 

 

(F)  Zoning Board of Appeals. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall consist of five (5) 

members and three (3) alternates each of whom shall serve a term of four (4) years. The 

Board shall exercise all powers necessary, appropriate and incidental to the purposes of 

such zoning appeal authority consistent with the zoning regulations, including but not 

limited to the power to hear and decide appeals from the decisions of the zoning 

enforcement authority of the Town, applications for variances, and the other powers and 

duties set forth in Section 8-5 et seq. of the Connecticut General Statutes relating to Zoning 

Boards of Appeal.  

 

(G)   Planning and Zoning Commission and Inland Wetlands Agency.  The Planning and 

Zoning Commission shall consist of seven (7) members and three (3) alternates, each of 

whom shall serve a term of four (4) years.  The Commission shall exercise all powers 

necessary, appropriate and incidental to the purposes of such zoning and planning 

authority including but not limited to the power to enact and enforce of rules and 

regulations, grant, deny, limit or modify applications for zoning permits, special permits, 

48



 

 

20 

 

site plan approvals, subdivisions and re-subdivisions, or regulation changes; and conduct 

public hearings as necessary upon such applications.  The Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall be designated and authorized to act as the Inland Wetland Agency of 

the Town of Bolton.   Said commission shall oversee the development, supervision and 

enforcement of state wetlands regulations within the Town of Bolton; adopt local 

program regulations and a map showing the general location of regulated areas within the 

Town; evaluate the impacts of proposed activities on wetlands and watercourses; carry 

out the purposes and policies of Sections 22a-36 to 22a-45 of the Connecticut General 

Statutes relating to regulating, licensing and enforcement of the provisions thereof, carry 

out and effectuate the purpose and policies of Connecticut General Statutes Sections 22a-

36 to 22a-45; define local needs and goals for wetland protection; prudently manage the 

activities within wetland and watercourse boundaries in the Town of Bolton; said 

commission shall exercise all incidental powers including but not limited to the issuance 

of orders necessary to enforce rules and regulations and carry out the purposes of 

Sections 22a-36 through 22a-45; encourage, participate in or conduct studies, 

investigations and research with regard to wetlands in the Town; grant, deny, limit or 

modify in accordance with the provisions of state regulations an application for a license 

or permit for any proposed regulated activity within Bolton; conduct public hearings as 

necessary on relevant wetland issues and applications.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



 

 

21 

 

CHAPTER 8. 
 

FINANCE AND TAXATION 
 

Section 8.1   FISCAL YEAR 

 

The fiscal year of the Town shall begin on the 1st day of July and shall end on the 30th day 

of June. 

 

Section 8.2   AUDITS 

 

(A)  Annual Audit. The Finance Committee shall appoint an independent public accountant 

or firm of independent public accountants to annually audit the books and accounts of the 

Town as provided in the General Statutes. The term of such appointment shall not exceed 

four years and shall not extend more than one year beyond the next regularly scheduled 

election for the office of First Selectperson.  The auditor may make recommendations for 

improvements in the method of keeping the Town records, but such recommendations shall 

not become effective until accepted by the Finance Committee in consultation with the 

Select Board. 

 

(B)  Special Audits. The Finance Committee may call for a special audit upon the death, 

resignation or removal of a Town official or in cases of malfeasance. The Select Board 

may request the Finance Committee to call for a special audit for due cause. 

 

Section 8.3   TREASURER 

 

(A)  The Select Board shall appoint a Treasurer or Deputy Treasurer who shall have all 

the powers and perform all the duties that are vested by the General Statutes in town 

Treasurers. The Treasurer shall serve at the pleasure of the Select Board, and may be 

appointed or removed by vote of a majority of the entire Board. The Select Board may, at 

its option, appoint the town Finance Director or the Town Administrator as Treasurer. 

 

(B) The Treasurer shall report quarterly and upon request, all revenues, investments 

and expenditures to the Select Board and to the Finance Committee, which may make 

appropriate recommendations thereafter. The Select Board may appoint a Deputy Treasurer 

who shall perform such duties as may be required by the Select Board and shall have all 

the powers and duties of the Treasurer in the event of the Treasurer's absence or disability. 

 

Section 8.4   PREPARATION OF THE BUDGET AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

                     REPORT 

 

The Annual Budget process will be presented in four sections: Select Board section; Board 

of Education section; Finance Committee section that shall include the Contingency Fund 

and Debt Service; and the Capital Improvement section prepared by the Select Board. 

 

 

50



 

 

22 

 

(A)  Financial Plan. 

 

No sooner than the first (1st) day of October and no later than the fifteenth (15th) day of 

November of the current fiscal year, the First Selectperson shall convene a meeting of the 

Select Board, the Board of Education, and the Finance Committee to discuss financial 

policies and revenue and expenditure projections for the ensuing fiscal year and the 

subsequent two (2) fiscal years. Capital improvements for the ensuing fiscal year and the 

subsequent four (4) years will also be discussed. Any major changes from the current fiscal 

year in financial policies, expenditures and revenues, and capital improvements with the 

reasons for such changes will be documented in a budget message. 

 

(B)  Duties of the Select Board on the Budget.  

 

1.  Once each year, at such time and in such manner as the Select Board may require, 

every commission, board, agency and office supported wholly or in part by Town revenues, 

or for which a specific appropriation is or may be made, excluding the Board of Education, 

shall present to the Select Board an itemized estimate of all the revenues, other than Town 

appropriations, to be received and all the expenditures to be made by such commission, 

board, agency or office, for the ensuing fiscal year.  The estimates shall be accompanied 

by such other reports and information as the Select Board may require. The Select Board 

shall examine the estimates and other reports and prepare a proposed budget. 

 

2.  Once each year, at such time and in such manner as the Finance Committee may 

require, the Select Board shall present to the Finance Committee the itemized estimates of 

all the revenues to be received. In addition on or before March 15th, the Select Board shall 

present to the Finance Committee the operating budget estimate for the Select Board and 

the Capital Budget with the Capital Reserve portion prepared in accordance with Section 

8.7.  

 

(C)  Duties of the Board of Education on the Budget.  

 

Each year on or before March 15, the Board of Education shall submit to the Finance 

Committee its estimate of receipts and expenditures for the coming fiscal year. Such 

operating budget estimates shall be in the form prescribed by the State Board of Education, 

and shall include such additional information as may be required by the Finance 

Committee.  

 

(D)  Duties of the Finance Committee on the Budget.  

 

1.  The Finance Committee may afford for the purpose of clarification each 

commission, board, agency and office an opportunity to be heard on the proposed budget 

of such commission, board, agency or office. The Finance Committee may then revise the 

operating budget estimate provided by the Select Board and the operating budget estimate 

provided by the Board of Education. The Finance Committee will then prepare a proposed 

budget with the Select Board operating budget estimate, the Board of Education operating 

51



 

 

23 

 

budget estimate, the contingency fund and debt service estimate, and the capital 

improvement estimate. In revising the operating budget estimate and capital  

budget estimate provided by the Select Board, the Finance Committee will only have the 

authority to change the total appropriation requested by the Select Board for each of these 

two items. 

 

2.  The Finance Committee shall hold one or more public hearings on the proposed 

budget no later than the first (1st) of May. Notice of such hearing or hearings shall be given 

by publication of such notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town and on the 

Town’s website as required by law at least five (5) days before such hearing. 

 

3.  The Finance Committee shall have sufficient copies of the operating budgets, 

contingency fund, debt service, and capital improvement budget and report available at the 

Town Clerk's office at least five (5) days in advance of the public hearing. The budget and 

the Capital Improvement Report shall include but not be limited to, the following items: 

 

(a)   an itemized statement of revenues by major sources presenting in parallel 

columns: 

 

i)   the audited revenues collected in the last completed fiscal year; 

 

ii)  the original revenue estimate for the current fiscal year; 

 

iii)  the revenues estimated to be collected during the current fiscal year; and 

 

iv)  estimates of revenues, other than the property tax, to be collected in the 

ensuing fiscal year; 

 

(b)   a line item statement for each commission, board, agency or office by major 

function in parallel columns: 

 

i)   all audited expenditures for the preceding completed fiscal year; 

 

ii)  all original appropriations for the current fiscal year; 

 

iii) all estimated expenditures for the current fiscal year; and 

 

iv) the proposed budget expenditures for the next fiscal year; 

 

(c)   an appropriation for a contingency fund in an amount not to exceed two percent 

(2%) of the total estimated expenditures for the current fiscal year; 

 

(d)   an estimate of the available cash surplus or deficit at the end of the current fiscal 

year;  

52



 

 

24 

 

(e)   a report on the capital improvements, including the acquisition of land, to be 

undertaken for improvement of Town and school facilities for the ensuing fiscal year and 

the next four (4) fiscal years. 

 

4.  After holding the final public hearing, the Finance Committee shall, by resolution 

adopted by an affirmative vote of at least four (4) members, approve a budget. The Finance 

Committee shall file the approved budget with the Town Clerk at least five (5) days prior 

to the Annual Budget Referendum on such budget. 

 

5.  Should the Finance Committee fail to approve a budget by the end of the tenth 

(10th) day of May, the budget as transmitted by the Select Board and the Board of 

Education in accordance with Sections 8.4 (B) and 8.4 (C) of this Charter shall be deemed 

to have been approved by the Finance Committee and the same shall be filed with the Town 

Clerk for consideration at the Annual Budget Referendum. 

 

Section 8.5   ADOPTION OF THE BUDGET 

 

(A) The Annual Budget Referendum. 

 

The proposed budget, as recommended by the Finance Committee, shall be presented to 

the Annual Budget Referendum to be held not later than the twenty-fifth (25th) day of May. 

 

(B)  Annual Budget Referendum Action. 

 

1.  The annual budget shall become effective only after it has been approved by the 

Finance Committee or in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.4 (D)(5) of this 

Charter, and adopted by an annual budget referendum. 

 

2.  The Annual Budget Referendum may adopt, reject, but cannot increase the budget 

or any portion thereof as approved or deemed to have been approved by the Finance 

Committee. The adoption of the budget by the Annual Budget Referendum shall be deemed 

to constitute the appropriation to each commission, board, agency and office.  

 

3. The Finance Committee shall give the Town Clerk written notice of the question 

to be voted upon at least five (5) business days before the date of the annual budget 

referendum. Absentee ballots shall be available not less than four (4) business days of the 

date of the referendum. Legal notice of the referendum shall be given when written notice 

of the question is received by the Town Clerk. The budget referendum shall, in general, be 

conducted according to the statutory requirements of a referendum with fewer than three 

(3) weeks notice.  Electors and qualified property owners shall be permitted to vote at the 

budget referenda. 

 

4.  The Finance Committee shall provide to the Town Clerk a simplified summary of 

the proposed budget at least five (5) business days before the annual budget referendum.  

Such simplified summary shall explain in plain language the proposed budget and include 

a simplified financial statement.  In the event the Finance Committee fails to approve a 

53



 

 

25 

 

budget as required in Section 8.4(D)(4), the Select Board and the Board of Education shall 

each prepare a simplified summary of their respective budgets as set forth above and 

provide the summary to the Town Clerk at least five (5) business days before the annual 

budget referendum.  The Town Administrator shall promptly cause all such simplified 

summaries to be posted to the town website and make copies available to the public. 

 

(C)  Failure to Adopt the Budget. 

 

1.  In the event that the budget is rejected by the Annual Budget Referendum, 

additional Annual Budget Referenda shall automatically be held in succeeding intervals, 

in a manner deemed appropriate by the Select Board, of no less than seven (7) and no more 

than twenty-one (21) days until such time as a budget is approved by a majority vote. Each 

time a budget is rejected, the Finance Committee in consultation with the Select Board 

and/or Board of Education shall forthwith revise the total budget. In revising the total 

budget, the Finance Committee may revise the total appropriation for each of the following: 

the Select Board operating budget, the Board of Education operating budget, the 

contingency fund, the debt service, and the capital improvement budget. In revising the 

budget after any Budget Referendum, the Finance Committee may only recognize revenue 

changes that resulted from errors or omissions, current estimates of surplus, and clerical 

errors. Summaries of the revised budget shall be available before the next Referendum on 

the Annual Budget is held. 

 

2.   If the Budget Referendum fails to approve a budget by the start of the ensuing 

fiscal year, a temporary operating budget will be utilized.   

 

(D)  In the event the budget is not approved by the start of the ensuing fiscal year, the 

Finance Committee shall meet and set a temporary tax rate at a rate no higher than the mill 

rate for the previous year. The Tax Collector shall forthwith issue tax bills, subject to an 

appropriate credit or refund, in the event the final mill rate as set is less than previously set 

by the Finance Committee pursuant to this section. In the event that the mill rate exceeds 

the temporary mill rate, the Tax Collector shall be empowered to issue a supplemental tax 

bill during the fiscal year. 

 

(E)  Levy and Collection of Taxes. Following approval of the annual budget, the Finance 

Committee shall meet and establish the tax rate on the taxable property of the Town 

sufficient, in addition to the other estimated yearly income of the Town and with due 

provision for estimated uncollectible taxes, abatements and corrections, not only to pay the 

expenses of the Town but also to absorb any deficit at the beginning of the ensuing fiscal 

year. It shall then be the duty of the Tax Collector to mail to each taxpayer a tax bill. Except 

as otherwise specifically provided in this Charter, the assessment of property for taxation 

and the collection of taxes shall be carried on in accordance with the General Statutes.  In 

the event additional revenues become available to the Town after approval of the budget, 

the Finance Committee may apply the additional revenue to reduce the mill rate. 

 

 

54



 

 

26 

 

Section 8.6 SPECIAL APPROPRIATIONS AND TRANSFERS OF           

APPROPRIATIONS 

 

(A)  Transfers of Appropriations - Board of Education.  

 

The Board of Education may transfer unexpended balances from one account to another 

within its total appropriation in accordance with the General Statutes. 

 

(B)  Transfers of Appropriations - Town Boards, Commissions, Agencies and Officers. 

 

Any commission, board, agency or office may transfer unexpended balances from 

one account to another within their total appropriation. They shall make written request to 

the Select Board for approval of such transfers. The Select Board shall act on such requests 

within forty-five (45) days of receipt of such request. Upon approval and transfer, written 

notice of such transfers shall be furnished to the Finance Committee prior to the Finance 

Committee’s next scheduled meeting. 

 

(C)  Supplemental Appropriations - Finance Committee Action. 

 

1.  The Board of Education shall submit all requests for supplemental appropriations 

in writing to the Finance Committee for action. 

 

2.  All requests for supplemental appropriations by any commission, board, agency 

or office, excluding the Board of Education, shall be made in writing to the Select Board. 

The Select Board shall submit such written requests along with any comments or 

recommendations to the Finance Committee for action within forty-five (45) days of 

receipt of same. 

 

3.  Any supplemental appropriation requested by a commission, board, agency and/or 

office may be acted upon by the Finance Committee, without regard to the number of 

supplemental appropriations previously approved for that commission, board, agency or 

office, provided that the current request, when considered either by itself, or when added 

to supplemental appropriations previously approved during the current fiscal year for said 

commission, board, agency or office does not exceed 0.2% of the Total Expenditure 

Amount. 

 

4.  The Finance Committee may approve, lower or reject, but may not increase the 

amount of any supplemental appropriation upon which it is acting. The Finance Committee 

shall act on all requests for supplemental appropriations, and/or transfers within forty-five 

(45) days of receipt of such request. 

 

5.  The Finance Committee shall pass on to a Special Town Meeting for final action, 

supplemental appropriations exceeding 0.2% of the Total Expenditure Amount and 

supplemental appropriations of less than that amount which, when added to supplemental 

appropriations previously approved in the current fiscal year for a particular commission, 

board, agency or office, exceed 0.2% of the Total Expenditure Amount. 

55



 

 

27 

 

 

(D)  Supplemental Appropriations - Town Meeting Action. 

 

1.  Special Town Meeting may approve, lower or reject but cannot increase a 

supplemental appropriation properly brought before it, provided, however, that a 

referendum shall be required if the requested supplemental appropriation is greater than 

2.0% of the Total Expenditure Amount and the source of funds is other than the Reserve 

Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures. When referendum is required and the 

source of funding is borrowing, both the supplemental appropriation and the proposed 

borrowing shall be included on the ballot for voter consideration.  

 

2.  Supplemental appropriations which are rejected by the Finance Committee may 

be brought to Town Meeting for approval, reduction or rejection pursuant to the procedures 

and voting requirements of Section 9 of this Charter. 

 

(E)  Emergency Appropriations.  

 

The Select Board, acting pursuant to a declaration of a state of emergency, shall be 

empowered to make appropriations for the purposes of meeting a public emergency 

threatening the lives, health or property of citizens, provided such appropriations shall 

receive a favorable vote of at least two thirds (2/3) of the members present of the Select 

Board. Written notification of such appropriations shall be given within four (4) business 

days to the Finance Committee at its Town address and a copy thereof posted as required 

by law. 

 

Section 8.7   RESERVE FUND FOR CAPITAL AND NONRECURRING  

                   EXPENDITURES 

 

(A)  General Purpose. There shall continue to be a reserve fund for capital and nonrecurring 

expenditures which shall be called the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring 

Expenditures for the purpose of this Charter. Said fund shall be used for capital and 

nonrecurring expenditures to provide for the planning, construction, reconstruction and/or 

the acquisition of any capital improvement, including land, or the acquisition of any 

specific item of equipment of such category, character or nature as not to be a purpose or 

object for which an appropriation is customarily made annually. 

 

(B)  Capital Acquisition Planning and Allocation. It shall be the duty of the Finance 

Committee to assemble a list of capital projects to be funded in the ensuing fiscal year and 

a list of anticipated projects for the following four (4) fiscal years. Such report shall be 

submitted to the Select Board by January 31 as the proposed Capital Budget for the Select 

Board to accept, modify or reject. The Select Board in consultation with the Board of 

Education shall submit a Capital Budget to the Finance Committee as part of the overall 

budget no later than March 15. 

 

 

 

56



 

 

28 

 

(C)  Operation of the Fund. 

 

1.  Upon recommendation of the Finance Committee and approval of the Annual 

Budget Referendum or at a Town Meeting, and subject to any minimum funding 

requirement or any aggregate limit on the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring 

Expenditures, there shall be paid into the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring 

Expenditures the following amounts: 

 

(a)  amounts authorized to be transferred thereto from the general fund cash 

surplus available at the end of any fiscal year, and 

 

(b)  amounts raised by the annual levy of a tax of not less than one (1) mill, or 

more than four (4) mills for the benefit of the Reserve Fund For Capital and 

Nonrecurring Expenditures, and for no other purpose, such tax to be levied and 

collected in the same manner and at the same time as the regular annual taxes of 

the Town. 

 

2.  The Finance Committee shall act on all requests for project appropriation requests 

for the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures within forty-five (45) 

days of receipt of such request. 

 

3.  Upon recommendation of the Finance Committee, any project appropriation 

request for the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures shall be passed 

on to a Town Meeting for approval unless the project appropriation is adopted as part of 

the Annual Budget Referendum. Upon approval by a Town Meeting or Annual Budget 

Referendum, the Select Board may use the project appropriation for the financing in full 

or in part of the project. If the recommendation of the Finance Committee is to disapprove 

a project appropriation request for the use of the whole or any part of this fund, such request 

may be brought to Town Meeting for approval, reduction or rejection of such request 

pursuant to the procedures and voting and referendum requirements of Section 9.5 of this 

Charter. No project appropriation of less than 0.05% of the Total Expenditure Amount  

may be included in the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures. 

 

(D)  Termination of Appropriations from the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring 

Expenditures. If any authorized appropriation is set up pursuant to Section 8.7 (C)(3) and 

through unforeseen circumstances the completion of the project or acquisition for which 

such appropriation has been designated as no longer feasible, upon recommendation of the 

Finance Committee; approval by the Select Board; and approval of Town Meeting, such 

appropriation shall terminate and may be transferred to another approved project. 

 

(E)  Control of Fund. The Select Board and any Town officers who may be authorized to 

administer the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures shall have such 

further powers prescribed by the General Statutes as shall be necessary to administer the 

Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures.  

 

57



 

 

29 

 

(F)  Discontinuance of Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures. Upon 

recommendation by the Select Board and Finance Committee, and upon approval at Town 

Meeting, said Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures shall be 

discontinued and said fund shall be converted into, or added to, a sinking fund to provide 

for the retirement of the Town's nonserial bond indebtedness. If the Town has no bond 

indebtedness at such time, such fund shall be transferred to the General Fund of the Town. 

 

Section 8.8   BORROWING 

 

(A)  Authority. The Town shall have the power to incur indebtedness by issuing its bonds 

or notes as provided by the General Statutes and Federal laws and regulations, subject to 

the limitations thereof and the provisions of this Charter. 

 

(B)  Borrowing Limits. 

 

1.  The Select Board, with approval of the Finance Committee, shall have the power 

to borrow funds and authorize the issuance of notes in accordance with General Statute 7-

405a up to an aggregate amount of $250,000.  

 

2.  In the event the Town is operating on a temporary budget in accordance with 

Section 8.5 (C)(2) of this Charter, the Select Board and Treasurer shall be empowered to 

borrow the funds necessary to continue the operation of the Town while the temporary 

budget is in effect, without approval of the Finance Committee, and the aggregate limit of 

$250,000 shall not apply. 

 

3.  Any borrowing and any issuance of bonds or notes, other than as authorized in 

paragraphs one and two above, shall require a favorable vote at Town Meeting. If, however, 

this borrowing is greater than 2% in the aggregate of the Total Expenditure Amount, such 

borrowing shall require a favorable vote at Town referendum. 

 

(C)  Other Provisions. 

 

1.  In the event that the Finance Committee shall determine that any nonrecurring 

expenditure included in the annual budget is of so large an amount that the tax levied to 

pay it would make the total tax so high that in the judgment of the Finance Committee it 

would be inconsistent with the public welfare, the Finance Committee may authorize, 

subject to the vote of a Town Meeting or referendum if required under Section 8.8 (B)(3) 

of this Charter, borrowing such amount and the issuance of notes to be repaid over a period 

of not more than five (5) years in accordance with the provisions of the General Statutes. 

 

2.  All notes or bonds issued by the Town shall be executed and delivered by the First 

Selectperson and the Treasurer. 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 

30 

 

Section 8.9   EXPENDITURES AND ACCOUNTING 

 

(A)  Regulations with respect to accounting and expenditures, subject to the Select Board's 

approval and excluding the bidding process, may be adopted and amended by vote of the 

Finance Committee. Such regulations shall be consistent with this Charter and with the 

statutory powers and duties of other Town commissions, boards, agencies and offices.  

 

(B)  The system of accounts used by Town agencies shall be that required by the General 

Statutes as supplemented by regulations as referenced in Section 8.9 (A). 

 

(C)  The Finance Committee shall keep under review the revenues and expenditures of all 

Town commissions, boards, agencies and offices as well as the Board of Education and 

may, by regulations, require periodic reports thereof. 

 

(D)  The regulations referenced in Section 8.9(A) may also designate the forms and 

procedures for orders to be drawn on the Treasurer by the Board of Education and the 

Select Board. 

 

(E)  The Finance Committee shall assemble, compile and publish the annual report of the 

Town for the preceding fiscal year within 30 days of receipt of the audit from the auditor.  

 

Section 8.10   ADDITIONAL ITEMS  

 

(A)  Other Capital Projects. Appropriations for construction or acquisition of capital 

improvements, including land, from whatever source except from the Reserve Fund For 

Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures, shall not lapse until the purpose for which the 

appropriation was made shall have been accomplished or abandoned. Any construction or 

acquisition of capital improvements, including land, which is funded from a source other 

than the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures shall be deemed to have 

been abandoned if three (3) fiscal years shall elapse without any expenditure from or 

encumbrance of the appropriation therefor. Any other annual appropriation or portion 

thereof, remaining unexpended and unencumbered at the end of a fiscal year shall lapse. 

 

(B)  Spending Authorizations. No member of any commission, board or agency and no 

officer of the Town shall expend any funds or enter into any contract which would oblige 

the Town to expend funds in excess of an approved appropriation. Any member of any 

commission, board, agency or any officer who obligates the Town to expend funds in 

excess of an approved appropriation, except in payment of final judgments rendered  

against the Town, shall be liable in a civil action in the name of the Town as provided in 

the General Statutes. 

 

(C)  Public Records.  The Town Administrator shall cause a copy of each adopted 

budget, capital program, independent audits, appropriation or revenue ordinances or 

supplemental appropriations to be maintained on the town website.  

59



 

 

31 

 

 

CHAPTER 9. 
 

TOWN MEETING 
 

Section 9.1   GENERAL 

 

(A)  The Town Meeting shall have authority for final approval of those actions of the Town 

hereinafter enumerated, and when considering such action, said Meeting shall be deemed 

to be the legislative body of the Town. 

 

(B)  Persons eligible to vote at Town Meeting shall be the electors of the Town and all 

other persons entitled to vote at Town Meeting as prescribed in Section 7-6 of the General 

Statutes. 

 

(C)  Town Meeting shall be the Annual Town Meeting, or Special Town Meeting. Town 

Meeting action may be subject to referenda pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 9 of this 

Charter. 

 

Section 9.2   ANNUAL TOWN MEETING 

 

The Annual Town Meeting shall be held not later than the twentieth (20th) day of May to: 

 

1.   Hear Annual Reports from each Town Commission, Board, Agency, and Office; 

 

         2.   To consider and act on such other business as the Select Board shall state in the 

call of the meeting. 

 

Section 9.3   WHEN ACTION BY SPECIAL TOWN MEETING REQUIRED 

 

A Special Town Meeting shall be required for approval of the following: 

 

1.  The issuance of bonds in accordance with Section 8.8 (B)(3) of this Charter, 

 

2.  Supplemental appropriations in excess of 0.2% of the Total Expenditure Amount 

budget in accordance with Section 8.6 (C)(5) of this Charter; 

 

3.  Any appropriation to the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring 

Expenditures, in accordance with Section 8.7 (C) (l) of this Charter and any appropriation 

from the Reserve Fund For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures, in accordance with 

Section 8.7 (C) (3) of this Charter; 

 

4.  Termination of appropriations from the Reserve Fund For Capital and 

Nonrecurring Expenditures in accordance with Section 8.7 (D) of this Charter; 

 

 

60



 

 

32 

 

5.  Initial application for state or federal grants involving a local financial share 

estimated to exceed one half of one percent (0.5%) of the Total Expenditure Amount for 

the then current fiscal year; 

 

6.   Any purchase of real estate by the Town involving a purchase price in excess of 

$20,000; 

 

7.  Any real estate sale or lease and/or lease option in which the Town is the 

lessee\lessor and involves a term in excess of three (3) years; 

 

8.   Proposals for municipal improvements disapproved by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission pursuant to the provisions of Section 8-24 of the General Statutes; 

 

9.    The discontinuance or abandonment of Town roads; and 

 

10.  Approval or rejection of teachers' contracts, and any other collective bargaining 

agreement or contract pursuant to the applicable provisions of the General Statutes. 

 

11.  Any item which the Select Board deems to be of sufficient importance to submit 

to Town Meeting. 

 

Before the Select Board calls a Town Meeting on items listed in 9.3 1 through 4, the Select 

Board shall consult with the Finance Committee. 

 

Section 9.4   PETITION FOR A SPECIAL TOWN MEETING ON A NEW ITEM 

 

(A)  The Select Board shall call a Special Town Meeting within twenty-one (21) days of 

the date of receipt by the Town Clerk of a petition signed by twenty (20) inhabitants 

qualified to vote in Town Meeting requesting that a new item be considered at a Special 

Town Meeting.  The number of signatures required may be increased by an adopted 

ordinance.   

 

(B)  Said petition shall clearly state the matter to be considered and acted upon at Town 

Meeting and shall conform to the requirements of Section 7-9 and 7-9a of the General 

Statutes. 

 

(C)  The Select Board may hold one or more public hearings on such item prior to its 

submission to a Town Meeting. 

 

(D)  The call of the Town Meeting on which such proposed item appears shall be examined 

by the Town Attorney before being submitted to the Special Town Meeting. The Town 

Attorney shall correct the form of such item for the purpose of avoiding repetition, 

illegalities and unconstitutional provisions, and to assure accuracy in its text and references 

and clarity and preciseness in its phraseology, but not materially changing its meaning and 

effect. 

 

61



 

 

33 

 

(E)  Affirmative action on the petitioned item shall require a majority vote of those 

qualified voters present and voting and there must be a quorum of at least one hundred fifty 

(150) persons eligible to vote at a Town Meeting in attendance. 

 

Section 9.5   SPECIAL TOWN MEETING FOR OVERRULE OF CERTAIN BOARD 

                     ACTIONS 

 

(A)  The following actions by the Finance Committee and the Select Board shall be 

subject to overrule by a Special Town Meeting called by the Select Board subject to the 

applicable procedures and voting requirements in Section (B) hereof and Section 5.3: 

 

1.      The Finance Committee’s rejection of a supplemental appropriation pursuant 

to this Charter, 

 

2. The Finance Committee’s refusal to appropriate funds from the Reserve Fund 

For Capital and Nonrecurring Expenditures pursuant to this Charter, 

 

3. The Select Board's adoption, amendment or repeal of any ordinance except 

emergency ordinances adopted pursuant to Section 5.4 of this Charter; or 

 

4. The Select Board’s refusal to adopt, amend or repeal any ordinance initiated 

pursuant to this Charter. 

 

(B)  Procedure for overrule of certain Board actions:  

 

1.  Within fourteen (14) days of an action by the Select Board or the Finance 

Committee listed in section (A) 1 through 3, a petition may be filed by any person eligible 

to vote at Town Meeting with the Town Clerk and such petition shall conform to the 

requirements of Section 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes; 

 

2.  Said petition shall contain the full text of the overrule proposal and shall have the 

signatures of persons eligible to vote in Town Meeting equal in number to at least five 

percent (5%) of the electors of the Town on the last completed registry; 

 

3.  Said petition shall be accompanied by affidavits signed and sworn to by each 

circulator as provided in Section 7-9 of the General Statutes; 

 

4.  The Town Clerk shall, within five (5) days after receipt of the last page of said 

petition, determine whether the petition and affidavits are sufficient as prescribed by law 

and, if so, certify said petition to the Select Board; and 

 

5.  If, within thirty (30) days after said petition is certified by the Town Clerk, the 

Select Board or the Finance Committee fails to rescind such action which is the subject of 

said petition, then such overrule proposal shall be considered and acted upon at a Special 

Town Meeting to be called by the Select Board within sixty (60) days of the certification 

of said petition. 

62



 

 

34 

 

 

6.  No overrule at such Special Town Meeting shall be effective unless a quorum of 

persons qualified to vote at Town Meeting equal in number to eight percent (8%) of the 

electors on the last completed registry shall be present and voting; and 

 

7.  No overrule at such Special Town Meeting shall be effective unless a majority of 

the qualified voters present and voting vote in favor of the overrule and said majority is 

equal to or greater in number than four percent (4%) of the electors on the last completed 

registry. 

 

(C)  Prior to such Special Town Meeting, the Select Board may hold such public hearings, 

following the procedures set out in this Charter, as the Select Board deems to be in the best 

interests of the Town. 

 

Section 9.6   PETITION FOR ENACTMENT, AMENDMENT OR REPEAL OF 

  ORDINANCES 

 

(A)  The persons eligible to vote at Town Meeting per General Statute 7-6 and as 

provided in this Charter shall have the power to propose ordinances or the amendment or 

the repeal of existing ordinances in the following manner. 

 

1.  A petition may be filed by any person eligible to vote at Town Meeting with the 

Town Clerk and, except as otherwise provided herein, such petition shall conform to the 

requirements of Sections 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes; 

 

2. Said petition shall contain the full text of the ordinance proposed to be enacted, the 

proposed amendment to the ordinance to be enacted, or the ordinance proposed to be 

repealed and shall have the signatures of persons qualified to vote at Town Meeting equal 

in number to at least fifteen percent (15%) of the electors of the Town on the last completed 

registry; 

 

3. Said petition shall be accompanied by affidavits signed and sworn to by each 

circulator as provided in Sections 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes; 

 

4. The Town Clerk shall, within the time frame prescribed by Section 7-7 or the 

applicable provisions of the General Statutes, determine whether the petition and affidavits 

are sufficient as prescribed by law and, if so, certify said petition to the Select Board; and 

 

5. The Select Board shall hold a public hearing and make copies of the proposal 

available for public inspection as provided in Subsections 5.3 (A) and (B). 

 

(B)  If the Select Board adopts the proposed ordinance or amendment, or repeals the 

ordinance proposed to be repealed, such action shall become effective upon compliance 

with and subject to the provisions of Subsections 5.3. 

 

63



 

 

35 

 

(C)  If the Select Board fails to take the action requested in said petition within thirty (30) 

days after the certification of the petition to the Select Board, then such refusal by the Select 

Board to take the action requested shall be subject to overrule at a Special Town Meeting 

which shall be called by the Select Board and held within sixty (60) days of the certification 

of said petition. Overrule at such Special Town Meeting is subject to the voting 

requirements in Section 9.5 (B) 6 and 7. 

 

 (D)  If an action taken by a Select Board on an ordinance is overruled at a Special Town 

Meeting, that Select Board shall not take substantially the same action on that ordinance 

during the same term of office. 

 

Section 9.7   ACTIONS THAT REQUIRE REFERENDUM 

 

(A)  The following items shall be submitted to the Town at referendum: 

 

1.  Any supplemental appropriation greater than two percent (2%) of the last approved 

Total Expenditure Amount, in accordance with Section 8.6 (D)(1); 

 

2.  Any borrowing greater than two percent (2%) of the last approved Total 

Expenditure Amount in accordance with Section 8.8 (B)(3); 

 

3.  Any item on the call of any Town meeting which, at the discretion of the Select 

Board, may be submitted by the Select Board to a vote by referendum not less than five (5) 

days prior to the date of such meeting;  

 

4. Any item on the call of any Town Meeting wherein a petition is filed in accordance 

with Sections 7-7, 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes; 

 

 5.  A Town Meeting action subject to a valid petition for overrule submitted in 

accordance with Section 9.8; or, 

 

6.  The annual budget to be governed by Chapter 8 of this Charter.  

 

(B)  The Select Board shall fix the time and place of all referenda provided that the time 

within which a referendum must be held for each item set out in this section shall be as 

follows: 

 

1.   Not less than seven (7) nor more than twenty-one (21) days after the Town 

Meeting at which such matter is introduced under items (A)-1, (A)-2, (A)-3, or (A)-4; 

 

    2.   Not less than seven (7) nor more than twenty-one (21) days after the 

certification of the petition by the Town Clerk under item (A)-5. 

     

 

64



 

 

36 

 

(C)  Notice of a referendum shall be given at least five (5) days in advance or, if held in 

conjunction with an election, as provided by the General Statutes for the notice of such 

election. Each referendum shall be conducted as provided by the General Statutes. 

 

Section 9.8   PETITION FOR OVERRULE OF TOWN MEETING ACTION  

 

(A)  The procedures for overrule of Town Meeting action shall be as follows: 

 

1.  Within seven (7) days after any Town Meeting action is taken, a petition may be 

filed by any person eligible to vote at Town Meeting with the Town Clerk and such petition 

shall conform to the requirements of Sections 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes; 

 

2.  Said petition shall set forth the full text of the overrule proposal and shall have the 

signatures of persons eligible to vote at Town Meeting equal in number to at least ten 

percent (10%) of the electors of the Town on the last completed registry; 

 

3.  Said petition shall be accompanied by affidavits signed and sworn to by each 

circulator as provided in Section 7-9 of the General Statutes; and 

 

4.  The Town Clerk shall, within five (5) days after receipt of the last page of said 

petition, determine whether the petition and affidavits are sufficient as prescribed by law 

and, if so, shall certify said petition to the Select Board. 

 

(B)  No overrule of such Town Meeting action shall be effective unless a quorum of persons 

qualified to vote at Town Meeting equal in number to ten percent (10%) of the electors on 

the last completed registry shall have voted at such referendum, and a majority of those 

voting shall have voted in favor of overrule. 

 

(C)  The effective date of any Town Meeting action shall be suspended upon the 

certification of a petition to the Select Board pursuant to Section 9.8. Such suspension of 

action shall remain in effect until final action on the proposed overrule is complete. 

 

Section 9.9   PROCEDURE 

 

All Town Meetings shall be called in accordance with Section 7-3 of the General Statutes, 

by action of the Select Board establishing the time and place of said meeting. Notice of 

such Town Meeting shall be given at least five (5) days in advance by publication in a 

newspaper having a general circulation in said Town, by posting on the Town’s website 

and by posting such other notices as required by law. Copies of all resolutions to be 

considered and acted upon at such meeting shall be available for public inspection at the 

Town Clerk's office and on the Town’s website at least five (5) days prior to said meeting. 

All Town Meetings shall be called to order by the Town Meeting Moderator and shall be 

conducted in accordance with the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order, Revised. The 

Town Clerk shall serve as Clerk of the meeting. In the Town Clerk's absence, an acting 

Clerk shall be designated by the Town Meeting Moderator. Any Town Meeting may be 

adjourned from time to time as the interests of the Town may require. Unless otherwise 

65



 

 

37 

 

provided by the General Statutes or this Charter, all actions at all Town Meetings shall be 

by majority vote of the eligible voters present and voting.  

 

Section 9.10   TOWN MEETING MODERATOR 

 

(A)  Town Meeting Moderator. The Town Meeting Moderator shall preside at all Town 

Meetings, shall develop programs to encourage and promote citizen participation at Town 

Meetings, and shall develop rules and procedures, consistent with the latest edition of 

Robert's Rules of Order, Revised for holding public hearings, for identifying persons 

eligible to vote at Town Meeting and for facilitating voting procedures. 

 

(B)  Absence; Disqualification. In the Town Meeting Moderator's absence or self-imposed 

disqualification, the Town Meeting shall elect a temporary moderator to preside at that 

particular meeting and any adjournment thereof. 

 

  

66



 

 

38 

 

 

CHAPTER 10. 
 

QUALIFICATIONS AND LIMITATIONS RE: SERVICE ON ALL BOARDS/ 

COMMISSIONS/ OFFICES 

 

Section 10.1   MINORITY REPRESENTATION 

 

Minority representation on any appointive or elective commission, committee, board, 

agency or similar body of the Town, except the Select Board, the Board of Education or 

any Charter Revision Commission shall be determined in accordance with the provisions 

of Section 9-167a of the General Statutes. 

 

Minority representation on the Select Board, Board of Education and on any Charter 

Revision Commission shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Sections 

9-188, 9-204b and 7-190 respectively of the General Statutes. 

 

Section 10.2   INCOMPATIBLE OFFICES 

 

(A)  General. In accordance with Section 9-210 of the General Statutes, no member of the 

Select Board shall hold the office of Town Clerk, Town Treasurer or Tax Collector 

concurrently; no Town Treasurer shall hold the office of Tax Collector concurrently; nor 

shall any Town Clerk or Select Board Member be elected a Registrar of Voters, and no 

Registrar of Voters shall hold the office of Town Clerk, but may hold other elective or 

appointed offices. 

 

(B)  First Selectperson. The First Selectperson during their term of office shall not hold 

any other elected or appointed Town office, except that of Justice of the Peace or service 

on the Finance Committee. 

 

(C)  Assessor. No Assessor shall act as a member of the Board of Assessment Appeals. 

 

(D)   Finance Committee. No member of the Finance Committee shall hold any salaried 

Town office, except an elected office qualifying such member to serve as an Ex Officio 

member thereof. 

 

(E)  Planning and Zoning Commission. No member of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission shall serve on the Zoning Board of Appeals; no member of the Planning and 

Zoning Commission shall hold any salaried Town office except Registrar of Voters. 

 

(F)  Zoning Board of Appeals. No member of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall serve on 

the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 

(G):  For purposes of this Section, service on or for a volunteer Fire Department or other 

volunteer emergency services body, or compensated duties or a leadership position in such 

Department or body (including but not limited to Fire Chief, Fire Marshal, Emergency 

67



 

 

39 

 

Services Director, or their deputies), if such service is disclosed to and approved by the  

Select Board, shall not be deemed incompatible with any Town office except that of Town 

Administrator. The provisions of Section 10.3 and of any ethics ordinance shall apply to 

all such service. 

 

Section 10.3   CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

(A)   The use of public office for private gain is prohibited.  It is the policy of the Town that 

any elected or appointed officer, any member of any Town board or commission, or any 

contractor or employee of the Town who has a beneficial or financial interest, direct or 

indirect, in any contract, transaction, decision, or other action of the Town or in any matter 

before any Town board or commission, shall, prior to considering or taking any action in 

connection with that subject,  disclose that interest to the Select Board  in writing or on the 

record at a meeting of that Board, which shall record such disclosure upon the official 

record of its meeting. In the case of an employee, contractor, or member of the Board of 

Education, such prior disclosure shall be made instead to the Board of Education which 

shall similarly record such disclosure.  In the case of a member of any other Town board 

or commission, such prior disclosure shall be made in writing or on the record at a meeting 

of such Town board or commission, which disclosure shall similarly be recorded upon the 

official record of such body’s meeting and shall be deemed notice to the Select Board 

unless the Town board or commission otherwise directs.  Any elected or appointed official, 

member of a Town board or commission, or Town contractor or employee shall be 

disqualified from participating in the negotiation, drafting, awarding, assignment or 

discussion of any contract, transaction, decision or other action of the Town, or in any 

discussion or decision of any matter before such Town board or commission, which 

involves that person’s beneficial or financial interest. The requirements of this section shall 

not apply to beneficial or financial interests which are similar in nature and kind to those 

of all residents, property owners, employees, or contractors of the Town.  

(B)           Violation of any provision of this section shall be grounds for removal of any 

offending appointed officer, employee, contractor, or appointed Town board or 

commission member from office in accordance with Chapter 12 of this Charter. 

(C)             Any contract, transaction, decision or other action of the Town made with the 

participation of any person in violation of this section shall be voidable, following a public 

hearing, by the Select Board or by the appropriate Town board or commission, or by a 

court of competent jurisdiction. 

(D)          The Select Board  shall have the authority to implement this Chapter by ordinance 

to make and enforce standards of ethical conduct to guide elected or appointed officials, 

employees, and contractors of the Town of Bolton in the conduct of their public 

responsibilities and to develop and maintain a tradition of responsible and effective public 

service. Such authority shall include, but shall not be limited to, the adoption of an Ethics 

Code and the establishment of an independent Board of Ethics or similar body with power 

to render opinions, both advisory and otherwise, regarding compliance with and violations 

of such Code. 

68



 

 

40 

 

 

Section 10.4   OFFICIAL BONDS 

 

All officers as may be required to do so under the General Statutes or by ordinance and all 

employees as may be required to do so by the Select Board shall, before entering on their 

respective official duties, execute to the Town, in the form prescribed by the Select Board 

and approved by the Town Counsel, and file with the Town Clerk, a surety company bond 

in a penal sum to be fixed by the Select Board, conditioned upon the honest and/or the 

faithful performance of such official duties. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent 

the Select Board, if it deems it to be in the best interests of the Town, from prescribing a 

name schedule bond, a schedule position bond or blanket bond. Premiums for such bonds 

shall be paid by the Town. 

 

  

69



 

 

41 

 

 

CHAPTER 11. 
 

ORGANIZATION OF THE BOARDS, MEETINGS AND RECORDS 
 

Section 11.1   ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

 

(A)  Elected Commissions, Boards and Agencies. Except as otherwise provided by statute, 

on or after the second Monday following each municipal election, but within two months 

of the election, each elected commission, board and agency shall hold an organizational 

meeting and shall choose a chairperson (except in the case of the Select Board where the 

chairperson shall be the First Selectperson) and vice chairperson, and any other officers as 

such commission, board or agency deems necessary. For purposes of this Section, the 

Finance Committee shall be deemed to be an elected commission.  

 

(B)  Appointed Commissions, Boards and Agencies. Each year, on or after July 1, but not 

later than thirty (30) days after all required appointments to a commission, board or agency 

have been made, such appointed commission, board or agency shall hold an organizational 

meeting and shall choose a chairperson and vice chairperson, and such other officers as 

such commission, board or agency deems necessary. 

 

Section 11.2   UNIFORM MEETINGS PROCEDURE 

 

(A)  Scope of Provision. This Section shall apply to all Town boards, commissions and 

agencies, including the Board of Education, which have a membership of at least three (3) 

members, regardless of whether such commission, board or agency is of a permanent or 

temporary nature, is appointed or elected, or meets at regular intervals. Nothing in this 

subsection shall be construed as precluding Town commissions, boards and agencies from 

adopting rules for the conduct of their business not inconsistent with the provisions of this 

Section. 

 

(B)  Meetings/Voting. The meetings of all Town commissions, boards or agencies shall be 

open to the public. Unless otherwise provided by the General Statutes or this Charter, all 

actions of any Town commission, board or agency shall be by simple majority vote of the 

entire membership of said Town commission, board or agency. 

 

(C)  Executive Session. At any meeting, a commission, board or agency may adjourn to 

executive session for one or more of the purposes described in Section 1-200(6) and 

Section 1-210(b) of the General Statutes. 

 

1.  Discussion concerning the appointment, employment, performance, evaluation, 

health or dismissal of a Town officer or employee, provided that such individual may 

require that the discussion be held at an open meeting, 

 

2.  Strategy and negotiations with respect to pending claims and litigation; 

 

70



 

 

42 

 

 

3.  Matters concerning security strategy or the deployment of security personnel or 

devices affecting public security; 

 

4.  Discussion of the selection of a site or the lease, sale or purchase of real estate by 

the Town where publicity regarding such project would cause a likelihood of increased 

price until such time as all of the property has been acquired or all proceedings or 

transactions concerning said project have been terminated or abandoned; and 

 

5.  Discussion of any matter which would result in the disclosure of public records 

or the information contained therein described in Section 1-210(b) of the General Statutes. 

 

(D)  Minutes of Meeting. Minutes of all meetings of such commission, board or agency 

shall include, but not be limited to: 

 

1.  The date, time and place of such meeting, 

 

2.  Whether such meeting is a regular or special meeting and, if the latter, the purpose 

of such meeting; 

 

3.  The fact that the meeting had been duly called in accordance with the rules of the 

particular board, commission or agency; 

 

4.  The names of the members present at such meeting; 

 

5.  The name of the presiding Officer Executive Session, time going in, time coming 

out and purpose as per section 1-200(6); 

 

6.  The presence or absence of a quorum, a quorum shall be defined as set forth in 

the latest edition of Robert's Rules of Order, Revised; 

 

7.  The items of business transacted at such meeting; 

 

8.  The vote on all action taken which may require a vote; and 

 

9.  The time of adjournment. 

 

(E)  Disposition of Minutes. A written record of the votes of each member of such 

commission, board or agency shall, in accordance with the General Statutes, be filed with 

the Town Clerk within forty-eight (48) hours, excluding any Saturday, Sunday, or Legal 

Holiday, of such vote and shall be filed in the appropriate book to be retained in the Office 

of the Town Clerk within seven (7) days after the date of such meeting. 

 

(F)  Access to Minutes. The minutes of Town commissions, boards, and agencies as filed 

with the Town Clerk's office shall be deemed to be public records and as such, shall be 

71



 

 

43 

 

available for public inspection in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions of the 

General Statutes. 

 

(G)  Schedule of Meetings. All commissions, boards and agencies shall establish a schedule 

of regular meetings for the ensuing year before January 1st of each year and the Chairman 

and Secretary shall file such schedule with the Select Board and the Town Clerk not later 

than January 31st of each year. If at the annual organizational meeting as required in 

Section 11.1 (A) and (B) of this Charter, any commission, board or agency establishes a 

different schedule of regular meetings, said schedule shall forthwith be filed with the Select 

Board and the Town Clerk. 

 

(H)  Special Meetings. Special Meetings may be called by the chairman or any two (2) 

members of any Town commission, board or agency.  Whenever special meetings are 

called, the person or persons calling the meeting shall notify each member of said 

commission, board or agency of the date, time, place and purpose of the meeting and shall 

notify the Select Board and the Town Clerk in writing at least twenty-four (24) hours in 

advance of such special meeting so that such date may be posted for public information. 

 

(I)  Agenda. Each commission, board or agency may establish its own agenda for the 

transaction of its business; however, included in such agenda shall be a time for citizens of 

the Town who shall be entitled to express their views concerning matters properly within 

the jurisdiction of the particular commission, board or agency. 

 

(J)  Public Hearing. Whenever any board, commission or agency shall schedule a public 

hearing, as distinct from a regular or special meeting, on any particular subject, and 

provision for legal notice of such public hearing is not otherwise provided by law or this 

Charter, then legal notice of such public hearing shall be given in the same manner as 

required by the General Statutes with reference to Town Meetings. 

 

(K) Transparency.  Each meeting of the Select Board, Board of Education or Finance 

Committee shall be recorded by audio or video for broadcast and preservation.  The 

Town Administrator shall ensure that all such recordings, minutes and any meeting 

materials are promptly published on the town website in a reasonably searchable manner 

and shall remain on the website for a reasonable period of time then permanently 

archived as required by state law.  In the event a board or committee required to record a 

meeting under this section determines that such recording would be infeasible or 

impractical for a specific meeting, they may by majority resolution setting forth the 

reasons for such infeasibility or impracticality waive the requirement to record such 

meeting.  

72



 

 

44 

 

CHAPTER 12. 
 

REMOVAL / VACANCIES  
 

Section 12.1   SUSPENSION AND REMOVAL 

 

(A)  Except as otherwise provided by the General Statutes or this Charter, the Select Board 

shall have the power to suspend by an affirmative vote of four (4) members, and to remove 

for cause by an affirmative vote of a supermajority of the members, any appointed Town 

officer or any member of any appointed Town commission, board or agency. For purposes 

of this section “cause” shall include but not be limited to (i) repeated absence from 

attendance at meetings or other responsibilities of the position; (ii) failure or inability to 

carry out the functions or duties of the position for a period of 90 days; (iii) violation of 

any provision of the conflict of interest requirements of this charter or any provision of any 

ethics ordinance of the town; (iv) conviction of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude after 

appointment to the position or which was not disclosed to the Select Board before 

appointment to the position; and (v) any other conduct which has substantially impaired 

the business or operations of the Town or of any board, commission, function or officer 

thereof or is reasonably likely to do so in the future.  

 

(B)  The Select Board shall act first by suspending such person and shall promptly give 

such person written notice by certified mail or in-hand service of such suspension. Said 

notice shall state the reasons for such person's suspension and shall set forth such person's 

right, if acted upon within ten (10) days of the receipt of such notice of suspension, to make 

written request for a hearing before the Select Board and to be represented at said hearing 

by counsel. Suspensions must be based on a credible report or allegation of facts from any 

member or chair of any town board or commission, town officer or employee, member of 

the public, the Board of Ethics or law enforcement agency.  

 

(C)  The Select Board shall then hold a hearing not less than five (5) nor more than twenty 

(20) days after receipt of a timely request for such hearing. 

 

(D)  Upon conclusion of the hearing or, if no hearing is requested, upon termination of the 

periods within which such person could request a hearing, the Select Board shall terminate 

the suspension and shall either restore such person to or remove such person from his or 

her office. 

 

(E)  During such period of suspension, such person shall be ineligible to perform the duties 

of his or her office. 

 

(F) The Select Board shall send by certified mail a letter notifying the member of his or her  

removal and shall notify the board or commission chairperson of such action. 

 

 

 

 

73



 

 

45 

 

Section 12.2 VACANCIES IN APPOINTED POSITIONS 

 

(A)  Vacancies. Any vacancy in any appointed position on a Town commission, board or 

agency, from whatever cause arising, shall be filled by the appointing authority, subject to 

the provisions of Chapter 10 of this Charter, and subject to the approval of the Select Board. 

Where the appointing authority is a Town commission, board or agency, such vacancy shall 

be filled at a regularly scheduled meeting of said appointing authority.  

 

(B)  Term of Appointment. Persons appointed to fill vacancies in said positions shall serve 

for the unexpired portion of the term vacated if such position has a fixed term or shall serve 

at the pleasure of the appointing authority in the event no fixed term is provided for such 

position. 

 

(C)  Reporting. All vacancies shall be reported, in writing, to the Town Clerk by the 

appointing authority, in case of a Town office, or by the chair or head of a Town 

commission, board or agency, within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice of same. 

 

Section 12.3   VACANCIES IN ELECTED OFFICES 

 

(A)  A vacancy occurring in the office of First Selectperson or on the Select Board, the 

Registrars of Voters, and the Justices of the Peace, shall be filled pursuant to the processes 

set forth in the General Statutes. 

 

(B)  A vacancy occurring in any other elective Town office, including alternate positions, 

from whatever cause arising, shall be filled by vote of the remaining members of the board 

on which such vacancy occurs, but if the vacancy is not filled within sixty (60) days from 

the time such office becomes vacant, the Select Board shall, within thirty (30) days 

thereafter, fill the vacancy by appointment. The remaining board or commission members 

may make an offer to an alternate to fill the vacancy.  If filled by an alternate, said vacancy 

shall be filled by an alternate with the same political affiliation as the member who created 

the vacancy, taking into account the laws concerning minority representation contained in 

the General Statutes.  

 

(C)  An appointee to a vacancy in an elected office shall serve until a successor is duly 

elected at either a special election or the next regular Town election and has qualified. 

 

(D)  All resignations from any elected Town commission, board, agency or office shall be 

in writing and shall be submitted to the Town Clerk no later than thirty (30) days prior to 

the effective date of the resignation, by the Select Board for Town offices or by the chair 

or head of a Town commission, board or agency for such commission, board or agency.  

74



 

 

46 

 

 

CHAPTER 13. 
 

TRANSITION AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

Section 13.1   TRANSFER OF POWERS 

 

The powers and the duties under the General Statutes or any ordinance or regulation in 

force at the time this Charter shall take effect, which are conferred and imposed upon any 

commission, board, agency or office which is abolished by this Charter or superseded by 

the creation herein of a new commission, board, agency or office, shall be thereafter 

exercised and discharged by the commission, board, agency or office upon which are 

imposed corresponding or like functions, powers and duties under the provisions of this 

Charter. 

 

Section 13.2   CONTINUATION OF APPROPRIATIONS AND TOWN FUNDS 

 

All appropriations approved and in force, and all funds, including special or reserve funds 

in the name of the Town, at the time of the adoption of this Charter, shall remain in full 

force and effect unless and until the same be amended, transferred or abolished by the 

Finance Committee under the provisions of this Charter. 

 

Section 13.3   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

No action or proceeding, civil or criminal, pending on the effective date of this Charter 

brought by or against the Town or any commission, board, agency or office thereof shall 

be affected or abated by the adoption of this Charter or by anything herein contained. All 

such actions or proceedings may be continued notwithstanding the fact that the functions, 

powers and duties of any commission, board, agency or office which shall have been a 

party thereto may, by or under this Charter, be assigned or transferred to another 

commission, board, agency or office. In the event of such transfer, the action or proceeding 

shall be prosecuted or defended by the commission, board, agency or office to which such 

functions, powers and duties have been assigned or transferred. 

 

Section 13.4   EXISTING LAWS AND ORDINANCES 

 

As of the effective date of this Charter, all general laws and special acts applying to the 

Town, all ordinances and bylaws of the Town, and all rules and regulations of 

commissions, boards, agencies and offices of the Town shall continue in force, except 

insofar as they are inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter or are repealed. 

 

Section 13.5   REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CHARTER 

 

The Select Board shall appoint a Charter Study Committee consisting of a minimum of 

five (5) members to review the provisions of this Charter from time to time  

75



 

 

47 

 

as it deems such review to be in the best interest of the Town, but not less often than once 

every five (5) years, said review to be published as part of the Annual Town Report. The 

amendment of this Charter may be initiated and carried out in accordance with the 

provisions of Chapter 99 of the General Statutes. 

 

Section 13.6   SAVING CLAUSE 

 

If any section or part of any section of this Charter shall be held invalid by a court of 

competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Charter nor the 

context in which said section or part thereof so held invalid may appear, except to the extent 

that an entire section or part of a section may be inseparably connected in meaning and 

effect with the section or part of the section to which such ruling shall directly apply. 

 

Section 13.7   EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This Charter as revised shall become effective upon the approval of a majority of the Town 

electors voting thereon at the regular election in November, 2021 in accordance with the 

provisions of Chapter 99 of the General Statutes. This Charter Revision shall become 

effective on July 1, 2022 except those provisions pertaining to the November, 2023 Town 

election when the first set of officials to be elected under this Charter shall be elected, and 

the provisions relating to the creation of the Finance Committee in place of the Board of 

Finance. 

 

Section 13.8   REFERENCES TO THE GENERAL STATUTES 

 

All references to the General Statutes made herein are to the General Statutes of 

Connecticut, Revision of 2021, as the same have been amended or repealed and reenacted, 

and as the same may be amended or repealed and reenacted hereafter.  

 

Section 13.9 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 

 

(A) Initiation of Staggered Elected Terms of First Selectperson and Members of the Select 

Board. The election of the First Selectperson and Members of the Select Board to staggered 

terms shall be initiated in the following manner: At the first regular biennial municipal 

election after the adoption of this Charter provision, and at the regular biennial municipal 

election held every four years thereafter, the First Selectperson and three (3) Select Board 

Members shall be elected to serve a term of four (4) years each.  At such first regular 

biennial municipal election after the adoption of this Charter provision, three (3) additional 

Select Board Members shall be elected to serve terms of two (2) years each, and at the next 

regular biennial municipal election and the regular biennial municipal election held every 

four years thereafter, three (3) such Select Board Members shall be elected to serve a term 

of four (4) years. each.  

 

(B) Initiation of Staggered Elected Terms of At-Large Members of the Finance Committee.  

The election of the At-Large Members of the Finance Committee to staggered terms shall 

be initiated in the following manner: At the first regular biennial municipal election after 

76



 

 

48 

 

the adoption of this Charter provision, and at the regular biennial municipal election held 

every four years thereafter, two (2) At-Large members shall be elected to serve a term of 

four (4) years each.  At such first regular biennial municipal election after the adoption of 

this Charter provision, one (1) additional At-Large member shall be elected to serve a term 

of two (2) years, and at the next regular biennial municipal election and the regular biennial 

municipal election held every four years thereafter, one (1) such At-Large member shall 

be elected to serve a term of four (4) years. 

 

(C) Termination of the Board of Finance and Creation of the Finance Committee. The first 

Ex-Officio Members of the Finance Committee shall be appointed as provided in Section 

3.5 by the First Selectperson, the Select Board, and/or the Board of Education at the first 

meeting of such Boards held on or after the second Monday following the November 2023 

municipal election, or as soon as practical thereafter, and the terms of such Ex-Officio 

Members shall begin immediately upon their qualification. On or after the third Monday 

following such election but in any event within 45 days of the election, the First 

Selectperson (or their appointee to the Finance Committee) shall call the organizational 

meeting of the Finance Committee as provisional chair.  Effective upon the call to order of 

such organizational meeting, the Finance Committee shall replace the former Board of 

Finance of the Town of Bolton with all of the powers and duties granted in this Charter as 

revised, and the former Board of Finance shall cease to exist. Neither the adoption of this 

Charter provision, nor the replacement of the predecessor Board by its successor 

Committee, shall affect or impair the validity of any vote, approval, denial, or any other 

action of the predecessor Board of Finance, which action shall continue in full force and 

effect. 

 

(D) Dissolution of Elected Planning and Zoning Commission and Appointed Inland 

Wetlands Commission and Replacement With Appointed Planning and Zoning 

Commission Also Designated As Inland Wetland Agency. After adoption of this Charter 

provision and on the effective date thereof, the previously existing elected Planning and 

Zoning Commission shall be deemed dissolved and each member or alternate of such 

existing Commission shall be automatically deemed to be an appointed member or 

alternate, as the case may be, of the appointed successor Planning and Zoning 

Commission of the Town of Bolton created herein, which shall be the zoning and 

planning authority of the Town of Bolton and shall exercise all of the powers, 

responsibilities and duties granted, or expressly or impliedly authorized to such 

Commissions under any provision of the Connecticut General Statutes, special laws, and 

this Charter, including but not limited to Sections 8-1 through 8-30f of Connecticut 

General Statutes.  The appointed terms of such formerly elected members and alternates 

shall expire upon the date of expiration of their original elected terms; thereafter, 

members and alternates shall be appointed by the Select Board to succeed the member(s) 

or alternates whose term(s) of office expire each year.  After adoption of this Charter 

provision and on the effective date thereof, the existing appointed Inland Wetlands 

Commission shall be deemed dissolved and the Planning and Zoning Commission shall 

be designated and authorized to act as the Inland Wetland Agency of the Town of Bolton. 

Neither the adoption of this Charter provision, nor the replacement of the predecessor 

commissions by their successors, shall affect or impair the enforcement of any existing 

77



 

 

49 

 

regulation (including but not limited to any subdivision, zoning, or wetlands regulation), 

or any decision, determination, approval, denial, or other action of the predecessor 

Planning and Zoning Commission and/or Inland Wetland Commission, which action 

shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

(E) Dissolution of Elected Zoning Board of Appeals and Replacement With Appointed 

Zoning Board of Appeals. After adoption of this Charter provision and on the effective 

date thereof, the previously existing elected Zoning Board of Appeals shall be deemed 

dissolved and each member or alternate of such existing Board shall be automatically 

deemed to be an appointed member or alternate, as the case may be, of the appointed 

successor Zoning Board of Appeals of the Town of Bolton created herein, which shall be 

the zoning appeal authority of the Town of Bolton. The appointed terms of such formerly 

elected members and alternates shall expire upon the date of expiration of their original 

elected terms; thereafter, members and alternates shall be appointed by the Select Board 

to succeed the member(s) or alternates whose term(s) of office expire each year. The 

powers and duties of the Zoning Board of Appeals shall be governed by Chapter 43 of the 

Connecticut General Statutes and the Zoning Regulations of the Town of Bolton.  Neither 

the adoption of this Charter provision, nor the replacement of the predecessor Board by 

its successor Board, shall affect or impair the enforcement of any approval or denial of a 

variance, any determination or decision on appeal, or any other action of the predecessor 

Board, which action shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

(F) Term of Auditor. The provisions of Section 8.2 (A) regarding the term of the auditor 

shall become effective with the appointment of the first auditor after the next municipal 

election at which a First Selectperson is elected.  

 

 

 

78



Town of Bolton 

Narrative on November 2, 2021 Referendum Question 1 

 

Q.1. Shall Town of Bolton appropriate $810,000 for the acquisition of an engine 

tanker fire truck for the Bolton Volunteer Fire Department and authorize the issue 

of $630,000 bonds and notes to finance, in part, the appropriation? 

YES  _________________    No______________ 

 

Q1.  It has been more than 5 years ago since the fire department requested a 

new fire apparatus to be added into the Capital Improvement Fund 

process.   This new truck will be put in service to replace a 30 year old fire 

truck, ET334.  This apparatus is the first truck to respond to all type of fires, 

alarms, hazardous material incidents, motor vehicle accidents, etc.  The fire 

department is looking to duplicate the current truck as the age and the 

miles/hours show the town has got a lot of use out of this 1993 purchase.  The 

new truck will have an updated Diesel engine with a better emission system, 

more computerized electronics, air bags, rollover protection, and many more 

safety features to protect our volunteers. It will be built with a 1,000 gallon 

water tank, and 1,500 gallons of water per minute fire pump.  The hose 

carrying bed has been redesigned to make it ergonomically easier to pack hose 

and get the fire hose off the truck during an emergency, thereby reducing 

potential injuries to volunteer firemen.  The new truck will also have more 

spacious compartments, a proposed aluminum body to resist corrosion, and a 

cab designed to duplicate the current ladder truck and rescue truck allowing a 

smooth mechanical transition by fire department operators, standardizing 

specific steps that need to be done in the cab, saving seconds to mitigate life 

and property preservation.   

 

Holding off this purchase will likely add 2022 price increases and steel 

surcharge increases to the town's purchase price.   

 

 

This narrative was approved by the Bolton Board of Selectmen 

79



1 
 

TOWN OF BOLTON 

PUBLIC INFORMATION BROCHURE 

BOARD OF SELECTMEN AND CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION 

PROPOSED REVISED BOLTON TOWN CHARTER 

REFERENDUM DATE:  TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 2, 2021 

 

October 1, 2021 

Dear Bolton Resident, 

This document provides background information on the Proposed Revised Charter.  

The Proposed Revised Bolton Town Charter is under consideration in a series of 

ten questions to be voted on at a public referendum to be held in conjunction with 

the Municipal Election on November 2, 2021. 

The following proposed changes to the Bolton Town Charter have been 

recommended by the Charter Revision Commission and approved by the Board of 

Selectmen.  The proposed changes are not final unless approved by the Bolton 

voters at referendum.  Each of the 10 charter revision questions (Questions 2 -11 

on the ballot) is listed below. Following each question is a brief explanation of the 

changes.  Each question will have a yes/no vote on the ballot and acceptance of 

each provision will be counted and implemented separately. 

 

Question 2. Shall the town charter be amended: (a) to replace the 

Board of Finance with a Finance Committee composed of two 

members of the Board of Selectmen, two members of the Board of 

Education and three elected members at-large, (b) to allow the new 

Finance Committee to assume the role of the Capitol Acquisition, 

Planning, and Allocation Committee, (c) to increase the Board of 

Selectmen from five to seven members with staggered four-year 

terms, and (d) to prohibit members of the Board of Selectmen from 

serving simultaneously in other elected town offices? 

            YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

80



2 
 

Question 2 Explanation.   

Change eliminates the current, seven-member Board of Finance 

and replaces it with a Finance Committee composed of two 

members of the Board of Education, two members of the Board of 

Selectmen, one of whom shall be First Selectman, and three 

elected at large members.  Board of Education and Board of 

Selectmen members would be required to be of different political 

parties.  No member of the Board of Education or Board of 

Selectmen may serve as an at large member of the Finance 

Committee.  Change eliminates the Capital Acquisition and 

Planning Committee and assigns the duties to the Finance 

Committee. Change also increases the size of the Board of 

Selectmen from five members (including First Selectman) to 

seven members; provides for staggered terms of First Selectman 

and Board of Selectmen for four years each. Currently the term of 

First Selectman and Board of Selectmen is two years, with all 

members elected at the same time. Change also prohibits any 

member of the Board of Selectmen from serving on another 

elected board or commission.  Currently this prohibition applies 

only to the First Selectman. 

 

Question 3. Shall the town charter be amended to change “reduce” 

to “revise” in the provision relating to a failed budget referendum 

thereby permitting either an increase or decrease in the proposed 

budget? 

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 3 Explanation.  

Change allows the Finance Committee to revise the total budget, 

by proposing either a reduction or an increase to total 

expenditures after a failed referendum.  Current provisions allow 

for reduction only. 

 

81



3 
 

 

Question 4. Shall the town charter be amended to change the title of 

Administrative Officer to Town Administrator and to change the 

role and responsibilities of that position? 

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 4 Explanation.   

Change defines the role of the Town Administrator so the 

individual will have significant autonomy over day-to-day 

operations, but with enough oversight by the BOS to prevent 

overreaching of the Administrator’s authority. The new provisions 

clarify the lines of responsibility and authority among the Town 

Administrator, First Selectman and the Board of Selectmen. The 

current provision which requires a vote of four members of the 

Board of Selectmen to hire or discharge the Town Administrator 

is eliminated. Termination of the Town Administrator will be 

handled according to the terms of their employment contract. The 

title of the position will change from Administrative Officer to 

Town Administrator (the former is not a widely understood or 

used term). The current Administrative Officer’s job description, 

adopted by the BOS on August 4, 2016, and employment contract 

provided the foundations for this change.  

 

 

Question 5.  Shall the town charter be amended to prohibit the 

Administrative Officer or the Town Administrator, if the change 

in Question 4 is approved, from serving in organizations 

including but not limited to Bolton Land Trust, Bolton Volunteer 

Fire Department, Bolton Parent Teacher Association, Community 

Voice Channel or holding any other appointed town positions,  

such as Fire Chief, Emergency Services Director, Fire Marshal or 

their deputies which may be conflicting with the responsibilities 

82



4 
 

of the position of Administrative Officer or Town Administrator, 

as applicable?  

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

 

Question 5 Explanation.   

Change prohibits the Town Administrator from participating in 

outside town groups or organizations where a conflict of interest 

could occur or from holding certain other appointed positions 

within town government operations.  This is a change from 

current practice where such charter restrictions are not in place, 

however could be put in place at the discretion of the Board of 

Selectmen.  

 

Question 6.  Shall the town charter be amended to change the title of 

Chief Financial Officer to Director of Finance? 

      YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 6 Explanation.  

Change would call the head of the Finance Department the 

Director of Finance.  The change would be in line with the titles 

of other department heads. The current title for the head of the 

finance department is Chief Financial Officer.  

 

Question 7. Shall the current thresholds for borrowing and 

supplemental appropriations in the town charter be lowered, so 

amounts above 2% of last approved Total Expenditure Amount 

must go to referendum? 

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 7 Explanation.   

Change will require referendum approval for supplemental 

appropriations and borrowing in excess of 2% of the total 

83



5 
 

expenditure amount (currently approximately $456,000).  The 

current provision for supplemental appropriations and threshold 

for borrowing that may be approved by town meeting are based 

the grand list value and have higher numerical values.  

Referendum approval is intended to allow broader opportunities 

for resident participation. 

 

 

Question 8. Shall the town charter be amended to merge the 

Planning and Zoning Commission and the Inland Wetlands 

Commission, make members of that combined board, its 

alternates, and members of the Zoning Board of Appeals and its 

alternates appointed positions? 

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

  

Question 8 Explanation.  

Change combines existing Planning and Zoning and Inland 

Wetlands Commissions into one commission, changes new 

commission from elected to appointed positions.  Changes Zoning 

Board of Appeals from elected to appointed.  Currently Planning 

and Zoning and Zoning Board of Appeals are elected boards, 

Inland Wetlands is appointed.  Change allows for greater 

participation in membership without requiring political affiliation 

and makes it more efficient for applicants who may now have to 

submit applications to both Inland Wetlands and Planning and 

Zoning Commissions. 

  

 

Question 9. Shall the town charter be amended to change how 

vacancies on appointed boards are filled and the procedure for 

removal of members of appointed boards?  

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

84



6 
 

Question 9 Explanation.   

Change will move all language related to replacement and 

removal of members of boards and commissions to Chapter 12 of 

the charter.  Change will remove the requirement of replacing 

regular members with alternates, permitting the appointment of 

external candidates.  Change will provide a definition of removal 

for cause, requiring credible allegation of facts and remove the 

existing deemed resignation provision.  

 

Question 10. Shall the town charter adopt gender neutral language 

and  replace the current Selectman/Selectmen terms and 

pronouns throughout the charter?  

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 10 Explanation. 

Change would adopt gender neutral language throughout the 

charter, change his or hers to their; change Selectman to Select 

Person, Board of Selectmen to Select Board. The references to 

Connecticut General Statutes concerning Board of Selectmen will 

continue to remain the same. 

 

Question 11. Shall the town charter be amended to make following 

technical changes: 

a) change the Economic Development Committee from a required 

to an optional board,  

b) add a definition of Total Expenditure Amount,  

c) change the timing of notices of transfers of special 

appropriations, 

d) decrease the term of fire commissioners to four years and change 

the timing of the appointment of said members, 

e) change the timing of the election of chairmen of elected and 

appointed boards and commissions,  

f) clarify conflict of interest provisions,  

85



7 
 

g) change the method of resolving a tie vote to a coin toss 

h) add provisions for posting and recording materials of certain 

board and commission meetings,  

i) change the timing of the selection of the auditor,  

j) change the provision re the appointment of the treasurer,  

k) add a requirement of a plain language summary of the budget,  

l) change the date of publication of the annual report,  

m) remove references to the judge of probate,  

n) change the definition of a majority of the Board of Selectmen,  

o) allow additions to Board of Selectmen agendas,   

change the duration of the Temporary Public Building Commission, 

p) and make such other grammatical, stylistic and technical changes 

as are recommended in the final report of the Charter Revision 

Commission or are otherwise required to reflect those amendments 

to the charter that are approved by the electors. 

YES ____________________    NO _________________ 

 

Question 11 Explanation. 

A yes vote will approve all of the following remaining provisions 

of the Charter.  

Letter Explanation 

a A regional Economic Development Commission 

(EDC)is being formed, membership on the local 

commission is low. Board of Selectmen will 

continue to have the authority to appoint an EDC 

in the future. 

b Total expenditure information will be required to 

determine amounts required to go to referendum. 

Total expenditure will be defined as last 

approved total budgeted appropriation, including 

Town Government operations, Board of 

Education appropriation and Debt service. 

86



8 
 

c Change provides for written notice of transfers 

of unexpended balances to be provided to the 

Finance Committee prior to its next scheduled 

meeting. This is in keeping with current practice. 

Current notice provision is four business days. 

d Change will decrease the term of appointed fire 

commissioners from 5 years to 4 years and 

stagger the terms of appointees requiring at least 

one appointee per year. 

e Change will extend the required timeframe for 

elected boards and commissions to elect 

chairman from 45 days each year to two months 

following each municipal election. 

f Changes add beneficial interest to conflict 

definition and requires written disclosure of 

conflicts, and disqualification of conflicted 

individual in decision process for contracts, 

transactions and decisions. 

g  Changes the order of resolving a tie in an elected 

position, other than First Selectman, so coin toss 

is first option.  Candidates can still request a 

special election.  

h Change will require all meetings of Board of 

Education, Board of Selectmen or Finance 

Committee to be recorded by audio or video, and  

require prompt website posting of minutes, 

recordings and materials for BOS, BOE and 

BOF meetings, where practical and feasible. 

i Establishes a maximum term of appointment of 

the town auditor to 4 years, not to extend more 

than one year past the next regularly scheduled 

election of First Selectman. 

87



9 
 

j Clarifies the Treasurer is appointed by the Board 

of Selectmen. Treasurer may be appointed or 

removed by a majority of the Board of 

Selectmen, and Board may appoint the Director 

of Finance or Town Administrator as Town 

Treasurer. 

k Requires the Finance Committee provide a 

simplified summary of the proposed budget, 

including a simplified financial statement to the 

Town Clerk at least 5 days prior to annual 

budget referendum. 

l Changes publication date of Annual Report to 

March 15.  Current requirement is to publish the 

annual report by February 1 however audit report 

is not available until after Feb 1.   

m Remove references to Judge of Probate which is 

no longer a municipal elected official. 

n Defines supermajority of the Board of Selectmen 

as the number of votes equal to a majority of all 

members of a Board or Commission plus one 

additional vote. Takes into account an increase in 

the number of Selectmen, if Q2 is approved.  

Current definition of a majority is three votes 

and supermajority four votes.  

o Formally allows additions to Board of Selectmen 

agenda when approved by at least three members 

at a regular meeting, as is current practice. 

p Permits the Temporary Building Commission to 

remain in place until the project(s) are 

completed, rather than current eighteen months 

life.  

88



10 
 

q Allows grammatical, stylistic or technical 

changes in order to reflect these approved 

amendments. 

 

 

 

A complete copy of the Proposed Revised Charter, including a 

black lined version outlining each proposed revision, and of the 

Final Report of the Charter Revision Commission are available in 

the Bolton Town Clerk’s office during regular business hours and 

can be viewed on the Town of Bolton website at 

https://town.boltonct.org.   The Town Clerk will mail or otherwise 

provide a complete copy upon request. 

 

 

 

THIS PUBLIC INFORMATION BROCHURE WAS 

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF SELECTMEN TO 

PROVIDE A GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE CHARTER 

REVISION COMMISSION’S PROPOSED REVISED 

CHARTER. 

  

89



11 
 

 

 

This Charter as revised shall become effective upon the approval of a majority of the 

Town electors voting thereon at the regular election in November, 2021 in 

accordance with the provisions of Chapter 99 of the General Statutes. The effective 

date of the approved changes proposed in this Charter Revision is July 1, 2022, 

except those provisions pertaining to the November, 2023 Town election when the 

first set of officials to be elected if approved as proposed under this revised Charter 

shall be elected, and the provisions relating to the creation of the Finance Committee 

in place of the Board of Finance shall become effective. 

 

 

 

Board of Selectmen    Charter Revision Commission 

Sandra Pierog, 1st Selectman   Gwen Marrion, Chair 

Kim Miller, Deputy 1st Selectman  Eleanor Georges, Vice Chair  

Robert DePietro, Jr.      James Aldrich 

Michael Eremita     Jay Brudz 

Robert Morra       Richard P. Hayes, Jr. 

       Adam Teller 

       John B. Toomey, Jr. 

 

90


	BOF-9.22.2021-Regular-Meeting-Minutes.pdf
	2 FY21  BOE Budget - September BOF.pdf
	2 FY22 BOE Budget Status to BOF - Sept.pdf
	FY2022 July Revenue.pdf
	FY2022 August Revenue.pdf
	FY2022 September Revenue.pdf
	September Tax Revenue.pdf
	FY2021 Unaudited Expenditures.pdf
	FY2022 September Expenditures.pdf
	Transfers made after 9.2.pdf
	October FY2022 transfers.pdf
	Draft-charter-accepted-BOS-7-13-21-FINAL.pdf
	Town-of-Bolton-Narrative-on-November-2-2021-Referendum-Question-1.pdf
	Town-Of-Bolton-Public-Information-Brochure-Board-of-Selectmen-and-Charter-Revision-Commission-Proposed-Revised-Bolton-Town-Charter-October-1-2021.pdf



